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Cover Rationale
MTSFB remains committed to 

establish, maintain and develop 
Technical Codes that will propagate 
the growth of the communications 

and multimedia industry in Malaysia. 
This cover reflects our determination 

and strengthened foundations to 
ensure strong digital ecosystems and 
infrastructures for the development of 

the nation and safety of the Rakyat. 
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Abdulhadi Wahid
Chairman,

Malaysian Technical Standards Forum Bhd

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE 

Dear reader,

On behalf of Malaysian Technical 
Standards Forum Bhd (MTSFB), I am 

pleased to present to you our Annual 
Report and Audited Financial 
Statements for the Financial Year 

ended 31 December 2020.

The world faced a multitude of challenges 
in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. Its 
adverse impact on the global economy 
made it apparent that rapid digitalisation 
is imperative to secure Malaysia’s 
economic growth. Calls for enhanced 
connectivity continue to increase as 
more consumers and businesses shift 
online, giving national aspirations for a 

digital economy a welcomed boost.  

As Malaysia embarks on the next phase of 
its digitalisation journey outlined in the National 
Fibersation and Connectivity Plan (NFCP), Jalinan 
Digital Negara (JENDELA) and Malaysia Digital 
Economy Blueprint (MyDIGITAL), I believe that 
MTSFB has a massive role to play as the leading 
standardisation body for the communications and 
multimedia industry. 

MTSFB is dedicated to do its utmost in 
propagating Malaysia’s digital agenda 

and I am extremely proud of the 
achievements over the past 16 years..ProgressCHARTING

Setting Standards

MTSFB remains committed to fulfill our mandate as 
stipulated under the Communications and Multimedia 
Act 1998. A total of 18 Technical Codes have been 
registered with the Malaysian Communications and 
Multimedia Commission (MCMC) in 2019 and 2020. 

Furthermore, we continue to support proof-of-concept 
projects in Green Information and Communications 
Technology (GICT) and Internet of Things (IoT). The 
innovative integration and application of these 
technologies in environmental preservation, farming, 
security and healthcare signals progress in the 
adoption of ICT into communication networks and 
infrastructure in the country. 

Members of MTSFB are also involved in the 
formation of international papers to the International 
Telecommunication Union (ITU) and Asia Pacific 
Telecommunity (APT). Active participation at an 
international level enables MTSFB to contribute  
to the development of best practices within the  
global industry. 

Meanwhile, our collaborations with other 
standardisation bodies, most notably the Taiwan 
Association of Information and Communication 

Standards (TAICS), The 5th Generation Mobile 
Promotion Forum (5GMF) and Korea 5G Forum 
continue to open doors for MTSFB to learn from our 
counterparts in other countries. 

New Horizons 

Megatrends like the IoT, Internet Protocol version  
6 (IPv6) and 5G continue to shape our future, and it is 
our responsibility to ensure the safety of the network 
ecosystem to be able to support this growth. MTSFB is 
dedicated to do its utmost in propagating Malaysia’s 
digital agenda and I am extremely proud of the 
achievements over the past 16 years, which have 
been achieved through collaboration between the 
telecommunications industry players, educational 
institutions, government agencies to name a few.

MTSFB is blessed to have a team of dedicated 
and passionate individuals that continue to drive 
the organisation forward. I would like to take this 
opportunity to thank our office bearers, members 
and stakeholders for your continued support to 
MTSFB. I look forward to more impact-driven 
programmes and collaborations towards the 
development of the nation’s communications and 
multimedia industry. 
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Zaleha Abu Bakar
General Manager,

Malaysian Technical Standards Forum Bhd

GENERAL MANAGER’S ADDRESS  

Dear reader,

The COVID-19 pandemic has showcased 
the importance of a strong and resilient 
communications and multimedia 
ecosystem to Malaysia and its citizens. 
As people strive to remain connected 
in the new normal, regulations and 
standardisation becomes integral to  
our daily operations in Malaysian 
Technical Standards Forum Bhd (MTSFB). 
As such, MTSFB’s role as the focal body  
for communications and multimedia 
industry standards becomes more 
important than ever.

ProspectsPROMISING

Staying Connected

MTSFB is dedicated to enhance the quality of 
communications and multimedia networks to meet 
industry and consumer expectations. We are proud to 
be working with experts within the industry that range 
from service providers, manufactures and higher-
learning institutions, to develop Technical Codes 
pertaining to the development of telecommunication 
technologies in Malaysia.

Furthermore, we continue to strengthen our 
relationships with the industry experts from other 
fields such as property management, consultancy 
and local authorities for better coverage and depth,  

We are proud to be working with experts 
within the industry that range from service 

providers, manufactures and higher-
learning institutions, to develop Technical 
Codes pertaining to the development of 

telecommunication technologies in Malaysia.

as well as Malaysian Communications and Multimedia 
Commission (MCMC) to advance similar objectives 
towards a more connected Malaysia. 

At the same time, we continue to engage with 
members of the Working Groups and industry players 
through various programmes throughout 2020. This 
is important to keep our stakeholders updated on 
emerging technologies in the communications 
and multimedia industry. 

Moving Forward

The onset of new technologies requires a 
strong network infrastructure and service 
offerings to help facilitate the nation’s 
transition to a progressive future. For over 
16  years, we have positioned ourselves 
as a leading standardisation body and a 
platform that cultivates collaboration in the 
production of standards for the industry. 
And as Malaysia embarks on a new chapter 
in its digitalisation journey, MTSFB pledges to 
commit our efforts in the interest of the people 
and the nation.

MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD
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ABOUT US 

The Malaysian Technical Standards Forum Bhd (MTSFB) is the leading standardisation body for Malaysia’s 
communications and multimedia industry. MTSFB was first established on 8 June 2004 as a company limited by 
guarantee and was later designated as the Technical Standards Forum by the Malaysian Communications and 
Multimedia Commission (MCMC) on 27 October 2004 pursuant to Section 94 (Chapter 9 of Part V) and Section 
185 (Chapter 3 of Part VII) of the Communications and Multimedia Act 1998 (CMA 1998).

What we do

Committed
TO THE CAUSE 

Membership 
Management

Training & 
Certification

Subject Matter 
Expert Database

Repository on 
Innovation Industry Lead Body 

Others

Develop, recommend, 
modify and update 
Technical Codes (TCs) 

Promote, implement, coordinate 
and monitor Industry Promotion 
and Development Grant (IPDG)

OUR 
IDENTITY

01
Chapter

Excellence is part of our DNA. MTSFB is driven by 
passion, purpose and a stellar team that propels 
the organisation forward

MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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Our Vision & Mission

Mission

MTSFB’s mission is to provide a platform 
for interested parties to come together and 
collaborate on the production of standards for the 
communications and multimedia industry.

MTSFB envisions to become the leading
standardisation organisation and the focal body

 for communications and multimedia industry
standards that fulfil the Malaysian market needs.

Vision

Working Group (WG) and Sub-Working Group (sWG) in MTSFB

WG1:
Internet of Things (IoT) and 

Smart Sustainable Cities

• Internet of Things sWG
• Smart Cities sWG

WG3:
Numbering &  Electronic 

 Addressing (NEA)

• Internet Protocol version 6  
 (IPv6) sWG

WG5:
Radio Network  Facilities (RNF)

• Radiocommunications Network  
 Facilities (External) sWG
• Radiocommunications Network  
 Facilities (Internal) sWG

WG7:
Digital Financial Services

•  Mobile Payment sWG

WG9:
Green ICT,  Environment  & 

Climate  Change (GICT)

• e-waste sWG
• Hydrogen sWG
• Wireless Industry Emission sWG

WG2:
IMT & Future Networks (IFN)

• International Mobile  
 Telecommunication sGW
• 5G sWG

WG4:
Network and  Broadcast 

 Infrastructure and  Facilities (NBIF)

• Broadcasting Network Facility  
 sWG
• Fixed Network Facility sWG
• Power Line Communication sWG 
• Occupational Safety & Health sWG

WG6:
Security, Trust and  Privacy (STP)

• Information & Network Security  
 sWG
• Application Security sWG
• IoT Security sWG
• Trust & Privacy sWG

WG8:
Fixed and Wireless Terminal 

(FWT)

• Fixed Terminal sWG
• Wireless Terminal sWG

WG10:
Broadcast  Technology  (BT)

• Multimedia Broadcast Receiver  
 sWG
• Digital Terrestrial Television sWG
• Internet Protocol Television sWG
• Digital Radio Broadcast sWG
• Satellite Broadcast Terminal sWG

MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD
OUR IDENTITYANNUAL REPORT 2020
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ASSOCIATE MEMBERS

Rohde & Schwarz 
Malaysia Sdn Bhd

Sony EMCS Malaysia 
Sdn. Bhd. (KL TEC)

Altel 
Communications 

Sdn Bhd

Universiti Teknologi 
Malaysia

Universiti Tun Hussein 
Onn Malaysia

Solar NRJ Sdn Bhd

Nokia Siemens 
Networks Sdn Bhd

Malaysia Digital Economy 
Corporation (MDEC)

PDC Telecommunication 
Services Sdn Bhd

Universiti Teknologi 
Mara

Panasonic AVC Networks 
Kuala Lumpur Malaysia 

Sdn Bhd

Net2One Sdn Bhd

Universiti Putra 
Malaysia (UPM)

Motorola Technology 
Sdn Bhd

Y P YAU Trading Riger Corporation (M) 
Sdn Bhd

Samsung Malaysia 
Electronics (SME) Sdn Bhd

Eastool Solution 
Sdn Bhd

Universiti Sains Islam 
Malaysia

Webe Digital Sdn Bhd

VS Industry Berhad Multimedia University

MYTV Broadcasting 
Sdn Bhd

International Islamic 
University Malaysia

Celcom Axiata Berhad

Wamata Solutions 
Sdn Bhd

Sharp Electronics (M) 
Sdn Bhd

National Advanced IPv6 
Centre (NAv6)

Dolby Singapore Pte Ltd

Universiti Kebangsaan 
Malaysia

FrontrunnersThe 
The members of MTSFB consist of frontrunners who contribute to the development of standards and guidelines 
for the communications and multimedia industry in Malaysia and the region. In 2019 and 2020, MTSFB welcomed 
nine new organisations into its fold, raising the total number of MTSFB members to 104. 

ORDINARY MEMBERS

Maxis Broadband  
Sdn Bhd

Digi Telecommunications 
Sdn Bhd

YTL Communications 
Sdn Bhd

Telekom Malaysia Bhd

TIME dotCom Bhd

Media Prima Berhad

Fraunhofer IIS

SIRIM Berhad

U Mobile Sdn Bhd

REDtone Engineering & 
Network Services Sdn Bhd

Huawei Technologies 
(Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

Measat Broadcast Network 
System Sdn Bhd

Orbitage Sdn. Bhd.

My6 Initiative Berhad

MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD
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Icycle Malaysia 
Sdn Bhd

Sunway University 
College Sdn Bhd

Xcelcius Consultancy 
Sdn Bhd

Duriane Professionals 
Sdn Bhd

MNA Research 
Sdn Bhd

Asia Mobility 
Technologies 

Sdn Bhd

Core MTX Sdn Bhd

Malaysia Institute For 
Supply Chain Innovation

Wideminds Pte Ltd

Universiti Malaysia 
Terengganu

Vantage Well Services 
Sdn Bhd

SmarDTV Global S.A.S

American Malaysian 
Chamber of Commerce

Wilson Electronics 
Malaysia Sdn Bhd

Amantronic 
Sdn Bhd

Metrobinaya Sdn Bhd 

TELE System Electronics 
(M) Sdn Bhd

UCSI Education 
Sdn Bhd

Neu Dimension 
Sdn Bhd

Tekmark Sdn Bhd

Techikara Engineering 
Sdn Bhd

Universiti Tunku 
Abdul Rahman

Redsun Engineering 
Sdn Bhd

Hadi Venture 
Sdn Bhd 

Common Tower 
Technologies Sdn Bhd

Universiti Sultan Zainal 
Abidin (UniSZA)

Maxvec Sdn Bhd

Universiti Teknikal 
Malaysia Melaka

Kumpulan ABEX 
Sdn Bhd

Solnavation Analytics 
Sdn. Bhd.

Universiti Tenaga 
Nasional

Universiti Malaysia 
Perlis (UniMAP)

Universiti Malaysia 
Pahang

Sustainable Energy 
Development Authority 

Malaysia (SEDA Malaysia)

Sharp-Roxy Sales & Service 
Company (M) Sdn Bhd

Brainc Assets 
Sdn Bhd

Universiti Utara Malaysia

Universiti Kuala Lumpur

BNetwork Sdn Bhd

LG Electronics (M) 
Sdn Bhd

Techcapital Resources 
Sdn Bhd

Favoriot Sdn Bhd Heriot-Watt 
University Malaysia

Integrated Transportation 
Solutions Sdn Bhd

Worldwide Core 
System (M) Sdn Bhd

Sophic Automation 
Sdn. Bhd.

Kolej WIT Sdn Bhd

Phoenix Minds 
Corporation Sdn Bhd

Universiti 
Sains Malaysia

Logikation Sdn Bhd

Cyberview Sdn Bhd

Global Invacom 
Sdn Bhd 

edotco Malaysia 
Sdn Bhd

University of 
Southampton 

Malaysia Campus

Universiti Malaya

Connectcounty 
Holdings Berhad

Provintell Technologies 
Sdn Bhd

MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Under the leadership of the Chairman and Board Members, MTSFB continues to build on its strengths to better 
support the development of the industry. Their profound knowledge and experience enables MTSFB to fulfil its 
mandate more effectively and proficiently. 

PioneersThe 
MEMBERSHIP BENEFITS 

MTSFB membership makes you part of the movement that is propelling the country’s communications and 
multimedia industry forward. Your experience, company’s capability and wide knowledge will contribute to the 
Working Groups’ objectives to develop Standards/Guidelines pertaining to ICT, particularly in the development 
of network infrastructure technologies in Malaysia and the region.

As a member, you have the opportunity to influence the decisions that impact your business, and ensure that 
your interests are heard by industry members and relevant stakeholders. 

Members will enjoy the following benefits:

There are two types of memberships:

Movement The

You can find the Online Application Form at 
mtsfb.org.my > Click Be a Member > Apply now

Ordinary Membership (OM) Associate Membership (AM)

• Licensee 
• Profit Organisation 
• Others 

• All

Unlimited access to 
MTSFB website.

Opportunities to 
represent MTSFB 
in regional and 

international meetings 
such as ITU-T, ASTAP 

and more.

Contribute to global 
standards and  
best practices.

Participate or lead 
Working Groups on 

emerging issues in the 
communications and 
multimedia industry.

Standing from left: Norazizan Mohamad, Mohamad Isa Mohd Razhali, Azni Risa Ramlan, Eric Liew Sze Yarn, 
Mohd Fuad Romeli, Mohd Hanizam Mohammed, Norhafizah Ghani, Abdul Aziz Long, Fami Abdul Hamid

Sitting from left: Abdulhadi Wahid, Nivendran Veerappan

MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD
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Abdulhadi Wahid
Chairman

Age: 59 years old

Appointment as Board Member:  
13 August 2010

Abdulhadi Wahid is currently the Head of 
Regulatory at TIME dotCom Bhd. He holds 
a Master of Business Administration degree 

from Federation University Australia.

Abdul Aziz Long 
Board Member

Age: 60 years old

Appointment as Board Member:  
23 February 2018

Abdul Aziz Long graduated from the 
University of Manchester, United Kingdom 
with a Master of Science degree in 
Management (Operation Management). 
He had previously served as the Senior 
General Manager of SIRIM STS Sdn Bhd.

Azni Risa Ramlan
Board Member

Age: 48 years old

Appointment as Board Member:  
26 May 2017

Azni Risa Ramlan holds a Master 
of Business Administration from 
Universiti Teknologi Malaysia. She 
currently serves as Head Technology 
Strategy and Fundamental Planning 

at Telekom Malaysia Berhad. 

Mohd Fuad Romeli 
Board Member

Age: 43 years old

Appointment as Board Member:  
30 June 2016

Mohd Fuad Romeli is the Assistant General 
Manager, Regulatory at U Mobile Sdn Bhd. In 
2003, he graduated with a Master of Science 
degree in Corporate Communication from 
Universiti Putra Malaysia. Mohd Fuad is 
registered with the Board of Engineers 
Malaysia (BEM) since 19 Sep 2001. He is also 
a Graduate Member of the Institution of 
Engineers, Malaysia (IEM) since 15 July 2002. 

Nivendran Veerappan 
Board Member

Age: 42 years old

Appointment as Board Member:  
20 November 2019

Nivendran Veerappan is currently the 
Head of Broadcast Technology at Measat 
Broadcast Network Systems Sdn Bhd.  
He graduated with a Bachelor of 
Engineering (with Honours) degree in 
Electrical & Electronics from University 

Tenaga Nasional (UNITEN).  

Mohamad Isa Mohd 
Razhali

Board Member

Age: 40 years old

Date of appointment on Board:  
20 November 2019

Mohamad Isa Mohd Razhali started 
his career in 2004 as an Intellectual  
Property Executive at SIRIM Berhad. 
His experience include holding various 
positions in organisations such in SIRIM 
QAS International Sdn Bhd, Maxis Berhad 
and YTL Communications Sdn Bhd. At 
present, he is the Assistant Vice President of 
Technical Regulatory at Astro. Mohamad Isa 
holds a Bachelor (with Honours) degree in 
Electrical Engineering (Telecommunication) 

from Universiti Teknologi Malaysia. 

Eric Liew Sze Yarn
Board Member

Age: 56 years old

Appointment as Board Member:  
1 March 2016

Eric Liew Sze Yarn graduated from  
San Francisco State University in 1993 with a 
Bachelor of Science in Business Accounting 
& Finance. Currently, he is Head Regulatory 

at U Mobile Sdn Bhd. 

Norhafizah Ghani
Board Member

Age: 48 years old

Appointment as Board Member:  
26 May 2017

Norhafizah Ghani graduated from Universiti 
Teknologi Mara with a Master of Business 
Administration. She started her career 
in 1996 and currently serves as a General 

Manager at Telekom Malaysia Berhad.

Mohd Hanizam Mohammed 
Board Member

Age: 52 years old

Appointment as Board Member:  
13 August 2010

Mohd Hanizam Mohammed is the Head 
of Development (People) at Time dotCom 
Bhd. He graduated from Clarkson University, 
Potsdam, New York with a Bachelor of Science 

in Electrical Engineering. 

Norazizan Mohamad
Board Member

Age: 51 years old

Appointment as Board Member:  
10 Mar 2014

Norazizan Mohamad first joined Maxis 
in 1996 and is presently the Head of 
Department of Network Digital Engineering 
& Industry at Maxis Broadband Sdn Bhd.  
He has a Bachelor of Science degree 
in Electrical Engineering from Bradley 

University, Peoria, Illinois, USA.

Fami Abdul Hamid
Board Member

Age: 50 years old

Appointment as Board Member:  
8 November 2016

Fami Abdul Hamid started his career in 1992 
and currently holds the position of Principal 
Regulatory at Digi Telecommunications Sdn 
Bhd. He has a Bachelor of Science (with 
Honours) degree in Computer Science, 

majoring in Software Engineering. 

MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD
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REFERENCE PANEL LEADERSHIP AND TEAM

The Reference Panel (RP) is responsible for advising 
the Working Groups on the preparation of MTSFB’s 
work programmes. The members bring to the table 
their expertise in diverse subject matters to pioneer 
the growth of new technologies.  

The Panel is accountable to the Board and operates 
under the direction of the Board with the support of, 
and in consultation with, MTSFB’s Management.

The management sets the wheels in motion for the implementation and execution of MTSFB’s roles and 
responsibilities. With experienced hands at the helm, they set the ball rolling, allowing the Company to scale 
new heights. 

Mohd Mokhtar Daud 
Chairman

Mohd Yusairi  Abu Hassan 
Chairman

WG4 - Network and  Broadcast 
Infrastructure and Facilities

Rakuram Gandhi 
Chairman

WG2 - IMT and Future Networks

Ahmad Faizan Pardi 
Chairman

WG8 - Fixed and Wireless Terminal

Dr. Gopinath Rao Sinniah 
Chairman 

WG1 - Internet of Things (IoT) and 
Smart Sustainable Cities

Thaib Mustafa 
Chairman 

WG6 - Security, Trust and Privacy

Ahmad Syazilie 
Shamsuddin 

Engineer

Mohamad Norzamir 
Mat Taib 

Engineer

Norkhadhra 
Nawawi 

Engineer

Mohammad 
Hafiz Halal 

Engineer

Nur Shahidah 
Senin 
Executive

Muhaimin Mat 
Salleh 

Senior Engineer

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tan Ching 
Seong 
Chairman

WG9 - Green ICT, Environment and 
Climate Change

Ratnam N.A. 
Chairman

WG5 - Radio Network Facilities

Azura Mat Salim 
Chairman

WG3 - Numbering and Electronic 
Addressing

Dr. Ahmad Zakir Mohd 
Salleh 
Chairman

WG10 - Broadcast Technology
Nor Atiqah Ali 

Norpiah 
Executive

1. Zaleha Abu Bakar 
 General Manager

4. Yuzie Aznita Mat Yasin 
 Manager

 Grant Management Unit

2. Norazlina Dato’ Ghazali 
 Senior Manager

 Standardisation Unit

3. Humairah Ahmad Nasir 
 Manager

 Business Management and Support  
 Functions Unit

1

2

3 4
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2019 - 2020 HIGHLIGHTS
Focal Point New Blood

MTSFB’s achievements are made up of small but defining 
successes. We continue to grow by leaps and bounds  
by the strengths of our staff and fruitful cooperation  

with our valuable stakeholders. 

Appointment of a New Chairman

Appointment of new members to the Board of Directors

Our membership base has expanded 
with the addition of nine new 
members. We also welcomed new 
individuals into our leadership who are 
set to drive the organisation forward. 

Appointment of the new Chairman during the Annual General Meeting, 
24 June 2020

Abdulhadi Wahid

Maxvec Sdn Bhd

Nivendran Veerappan Mohamad Isa Mohd Razhali

Wideminds Pte Ltd Tele System Electronic (M) Sdn Bhd

Common Tower Technologies Sdn Bhd

Asia Mobility Technologies Sdn. Bhd Smardtv Global S.A.S

UCSI Education Sdn Bhd

Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman Xcelcius Consultancy Sdn Bhd

New Members 

20 November 2019

Appointment of New Reference Panel Members 

Mohd Mokhtar Daud Ratnam N.A. Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tan Ching Seong

Chairman of RP Chairman
WG5 -Radio Network Facilities

Chairman 
WG9 -Green ICT, Environment  
& Climate Change

20 March 2020 15 May 2020 18 June 2020

i n  D e v e l o p m e n tTCs

TCs

27 18

9
W o r k i n g  G r o u p s

I n d u s t r y  
P r o m o t i o n  a n d
D e v e l o p m e n t  

G r a n t  P r o j e c t s  
R e g i s t e r e d

R e g i s t e r e d  M e m b e r s  
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Corporate Events 
Active engagement with our industry stakeholders is paramount to MTSFB. In 2019 and 2020, numerous 
programmes were held to drive discussions and dialogue within the communications and multimedia industry 
(CMI). 

MTSFB remains diligent in its efforts to spread awareness about the availability of Technical Codes (TC), guidelines 
and best practices with the industry, government agencies and other stakeholders. A total of seven Technical 
Codes Programmes were held throughout 2019 and 2020. 

Raising Awareness 

Technical Codes Programme 2019

Technical Codes Programme 2019

Technical Codes Programme 2020

Technical Codes Programme 2020

Technical Codes Programme 2020

Technical Codes Programme 2020

Technical Codes Programme 2020
MCMC Auditorium, Cyberjaya

Waterfront Hotel, Kuching

MCMC Auditorium, Cyberjaya

26 
September 

2019

5 December 
2019

3 March 
2020

24 - 25  
June 2020

8 – 9 
July 2020

20-21 
October 

2020

18-19 
November 

2020

Webinar

Webinar

Webinar

Webinar

MTSFB seeks to keep our stakeholders abreast with the latest and emerging technologies in the CMI. The Digital 
Outlook Series is designed to stimulate action and chain reactions across various sectors and gear the industry 
for Malaysia’s emerging digital economy.  

Technology Talk 

The Beginning of 5G – Are You Ready?: Digital 
Outlook Series 2019 (in conjunction with 
Malaysia’s 5G Test Bed Showcase)

Revolutionising Communications, 
Progressing Humanity: Digital Outlook Series 
2019 (in conjunction with the Memorandum 
of Understanding Signing Ceremony between 
MTSFB with 5GMF and Korea 5G Forum)

Digital Network Readiness in the Era of 
COVID-19: Digital Outlook Series 2020

Perbadanan 
Putrajaya Complex

MCMC Auditorium, Cyberjaya

Webinar  20 - 21 November 2019

Speakers at the Technical Codes Programme 2020. From 
the left, Mohammad Isa Mohd Razhali, Zulkefli Zabri, 
Mohd Yusairi Abu Hassan, Sufian Sulaiman

Moderator and Speaker for Session 1 of the Digital 
Outlook Series 2020 Webinar

Digital Outlook Series 2019, 19 - 20 April 
2021, Kompleks Perbadanan Putrajaya

Digital Outlook 
Series 2019, 20 - 21 
November 2019, 
Auditorium, MCMC 
Tower 1, Cyberjaya

Participants at the Technical Codes Program, 
25 Oct 2021

20 November 2020

19 - 20 April 2019

MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD
OUR IDENTITYANNUAL REPORT 2020

21 22



In 2019, MTSFB signed Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with three international standard bodies. These 
MOUs helped facilitate the exchange of ideas and expertise, as well as collaboration activities that contribute to 
the development of the CMI. 

To ensure the development of the CMI, MTSFB remains committed to further enhance our presence on the 
global arena. In 2019 and 2020, we participated in a number of focused activities and programmes organised by 
our counterparts in other countries. 

Building Bridges Paving Progress 

TAICS Standards Training

5GMF International Symposium

5G Regional Meeting

5G Vertical Summit 2019

TAICS Webinar 
Agriculture Session

TAICS Standards Training

Tokyo, Japan

Tokyo, Japan

Seoul, South Korea

Seoul, South Korea

Webinar 
20 November 2019

28 January 
2019

29 – 30  
January 

2019

2 
December 

2019

3 – 4  
December 

2019

27 August 
2020

23 - 24  
September 

2020

1 October 2019

Dato’ Ismail 
Osman with Dr. 
Pei-Zen Chang, 
Vice Chairman of 
Taiwan Association 
of Information and 
Communication 
Standard (TAICS), 
at the MTSFB & 
TAICS MoU Signing 
Ceremony during 
the TAICS Global 
Standards Forum 
on 1 October 2019 
at Taipei, Taiwan 

MoU Signing between MTSFB and the Korea 
5G Forum during the Digital Outlook Series 
2019, represented by Dato’ Ismail Osman and 
Prof. Lee HyeonWoo   

Webinar for Agriculture IoT Applications, Standards 
and Case Study, 27 August 2020

5G Vertical Summit 2019 “5G Verticals & 
Intelligence” - 3 - 4 December 2019, Seoul, Korea

MoU Signing between 5GMF and MTSFB by 
Takehiro Nakamura and Dato’ Ismail Osman 
during the Digital Outlook Series 2019 

MoU Signing with 5G Forum, South Korea
MCMC Auditorium Tower 1, Cyberjaya

MCMC Auditorium Tower 1, Cyberjaya

MoU Signing with the 5th Generation Mobile 
Promotion Forum (5GMF), Japan 

MoU Signing with Taiwan Association of Information and 
Communication Standards (TAICS)

Taipei, Taiwan
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In January 2019, MTSFB was officially appointed as an Industry Lead Body (ILB) 
focusing on telecommunication by the Department of Skills Development (JPK) 
under the Ministry of Human Resources. ILBs are leading bodies appointed to 
drive specific industry sectors based on the functions specified by JPK. 

Leading The Way
MTSFB continues to spearhead efforts to harmonise the application of the Technical Codes in various sectors. A 
Letter of Intent (LoI) was signed between MTSFB with Universiti Teknikal Malaysia (UTeM), Melaka to develop a 
Professional Certification Programme based on the MCMC MTSFB TC G007:2016.

Nurturing collaboration

Faculty of Electronic and Computer 
Engineering, UTeM, Melaka

22 January 
2020

MTSFB plays an active role in nurturing and developing knowledge in multimedia and communication services 
among the younger generation. This is often facilitated in conjunction with our members with the aim to foster 
good collaboration among the industry and Forum. 

The Inner Circle 

MMU Campus, Cyberjaya

30 
November 

2019

Letter of Intent Signing Ceremony 
with UTeM, Melaka

Triple M Explorace

The signing ceremony between Dato’ Ismail Osman, 
MTSFB Chairman of Board and Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mohd 

Shakir Md Saad, Dean, Faculty of Electronics and 
Computer Engineering on 22 January 2020 at UTeM, 

Durian Tunggal Campus, Melaka

Humairah Ahmad Nasir, Ahmad Izham 
Khairudin and Dr. Junainah Mohd Mahdee 
officiate the Triple M ExploraceDato’ Mohd Ali Hanafiah with the Winners of the Triple M 

Explorace, 30 November 2019 at MMU Cyberjaya 
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Setting Standards
A Technical Code (TC) is a voluntary industry code that deals with any matter 
provided under the CMA 1998, prepared either on MTSFB’s own initiative or upon 
request by MCMC to ensure the interoperability and safety of network facilities, 
services and equipment.

TCs are developed through a process of deliberation and drafting by the respective 
Working Groups according to topics. Representatives from the communications 
and media industry, other relevant industries and fields are invited to contribute 
ideas and inputs during this deliberation process to establish the document, 
led by the lead drafters. It is expected that each TC development will require 
an average of 10 Working Group meetings to complete its deliberation prior to 
release for public comment.

MTSFB has also implemented a 
workshop approach as part of the 
TC development process in addition 
to the Working Group meetings. 
These workshops create a conducive 
environment for sound deliberations 
and interactions between the Working 
Group members and command the 
members’ full commitment and 
concentration. It is also more effective in 
enhancing the overall process in terms 
of the quality of discussions across 
drafters and expediting the deliberation.

The Public Comment (PC) exercise 
and Public Engagement (PE) 
sessions are key milestones in the 
standards development process. 
The public will be invited to 
submit comments or opinions on 
the TCs under development in a 
given PC exercise. The PE sessions 
are interactive engagements 
designed to facilitate discussion 
on the draft TC as part of the 
overall public comment process.

Overview: Technical Code

Workshops Public Comment and Public 
Engagement

PURSUIT FOR 
EXCELLENCE 

02
Chapter

28 SETTING STANDARDS  

38 STIMULATE GROWTH

We continue to deliver practical solutions and set 
new standards that positively impact the industry
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18 TCs REGISTERED 

WG: Fixed and Wireless Terminal

Contributing Members
• Digi Telecommunication Sdn Bhd
• NEC Corporation of Malaysia Sdn Bhd
• Panasonic Malaysia Sdn Bhd
• SIRIM QAS International Sdn Bhd
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd
• TIME dotCom Berhad

WG: Broadcast Technology

Contributing Members
• MyTV Broadcasting Sdn Bhd
• SIRIM QAS International Sdn Bhd
• LG Electronics (M) Sdn Bhd
• Media Prima Berhad
• Panasonic AVC Networks Kuala Lumpur Malaysia Sdn Bhd
• Radio Television Malaysia
• Samsung Malaysia Electronics (SME) Sdn Bhd
• Sharp (M) Sdn Bhd
• Sony EMCS (M) Sdn Bhd

Activities

Activities

Scope

Scope

Private Automatic Branch Exchange (PABX) System for Connection to Public Switched Telephone Network 
(PSTN) and Internet Protocol (IP) Network

Digital Terrestrial Television (DTT) Broadcast Service Receiver - Common Test Suite (First Revision)

Revised and replaced by MCMC MTSFB TC T011:2020

WG Discussion: 
Jan 2017 - Apr 2018 

Public Comment:
21 May – 20 Jun 2018

Public Engagement: 
10 Jul 2018

WG Discussion: 
Sep 2019 - Dec 2019

Public Comment:
15 Nov – 15 Dec 2019

Public Engagement: 
20 Nov 2019

Specifies the technical requirements for legacy Private Automatic Branch Exchange (PABX) and Internet 
Protocol (IP) PABX system for connection to Public Switched Telephone Network (PSTN) and IP network.

Specifies the test methods for the Digital Terrestrial Television (DTT) broadcast receivers to ensure its 
interoperability, functionality, quality, safety and performance

1. MCMC MTSFB TC T003:2019

2. MCMC MTSFB TC T011:2019

Registered date: 8 May 2019

Registered date: 8 May 2019

WG: Green ICT, Environment and Climate Change 

Contributing Members
• Celcom Axiata Berhad 
• Department of Environment
• edotco Group Sdn Bhd 
• iCYCLE® Malaysia Sdn Bhd 
• Maxis Berhad 
• Solar NRJ Sdn Bhd 
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd 
• webe digital Sdn Bhd

Activities

Scope

Scheduled Waste Management for Base Station (Inclusive of E-Waste)

WG Discussion: 
Jan - Oct 2018

WG Workshop:
10 - 12 Jul 2018

Public Comment:
18 Sep - 17 Oct 2018 

Public Engagement: 
11 Oct 2018 

Specifies requirements for Scheduled Waste (SW) management of all Base Stations (BS), including but not 
limited to handling, packaging, labelling and storage of SW from the time the waste is generated by the 
user or the owner of the BS.

3. MCMC MTSFB TC G019:2019 Registered date: 13 Jun 2019

WG: Numbering and Electronic Addressing

Contributing Members
• American Malaysian Chamber of Commerce
• Apple Inc 
• Cisco Systems Malaysia 
• Digi Telecommunications Sdn Bhd 
• Hewlett Packard Enterprise 
• My6 Initiative Berhad 
• Panasonic AVC Networks 
• Persatuan Industri Komputer dan Multimedia Malaysia 
• SIRIM QAS International Sdn Bhd 
• Sony EMCS (M) Sdn Bhd
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd 
• webe digital Sdn Bhd

Activities

Scope

Internet Protocol version 6 (IPv6) - Equipment Compliance (First Revision)

WG Discussion: 
Oct 2017 - Dec 2018

Public Comment:
18 Sep - 17 Oct 2018

Public Engagement: 
11 Oct 2018 

Defines the core technical functions, the category of equipment and compliance requirement for Internet 
Protocol version 6 (IPv6). It aims to assist various stakeholders from government and non-government bodies, 
agencies, organisations as well as from the industry in ensuring that any products with internet functionality 
to be used in Malaysia meet the minimum capabilities to support an IPv6 ecosystem.

4. MCMC MTSFB TC T013:2019 Registered date: 10 Jul 2019
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https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MCMC-MTSFB-TC-T003_2019-PABX-SYSTEM-FOR-CONNECTION-TO-PSTN-AND-IP-NETWORK-SECOND-REVISION.pdf
https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MTSFB-075_2020_DTT-Broadcast-Service-Receiver_Common-Test-Suite_Second-Revision.pdf
https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MCMC-MTSFB-TC-G019_2019_SCHEDULED-WASTE-MANAGEMENT-FOR-BASE-STATION-INCLUSIVE-OF-E-WASTE.pdf
https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MCMC-MTSFB-TC-T013-2019-IPv6-Equipment-Compliance-First-Revision.pdf


WG: Security, Trust and Privacy 

Contributing Members
• Celcom Axiata Berhad
• CyberSecurity Malaysia
• Jardine Lloyd Thompson Specialty Pte Ltd 
• K2 Baseline Sdn Bhd 
• KPMG Management & Risk Consulting Sdn Bhd 
• Malaysia Digital Economy Corporation Sdn Bhd 
• Maxis Communications Berhad
• MIMOS Berhad 
• Ministry of Energy, Science, Technology, Environment and Climate  
 Change 
• Provintell Technologies Sdn Bhd
• Telekom Applied Business Sdn Bhd
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd

Activities
WG Discussion: 
Jan 2018 - Feb 2019 

WG Workshop:
17 - 19 Oct 2018 

Public Comment:
8 Feb – 10 Mar 2019

Public Engagement: 
28 Feb 2019

Scope

Information and Network Security - Cyber Insurance Acquisition

Specifies requirements for assisting information security professionals to use cyber insurance as an 
option for risk treatment, the sharing of data and information between an insurer and insured to support 
underwriting, monitoring and claims activities associated with a cyber insurance policy, leveraging cyber 
insurance to help manage the impact of a cyber incident and leveraging risk assessment results to share 
relevant data and information with insurers.

6. MCMC MTSFB TC G020:2019

WG: Security, Trust and Privacy

Contributing Members
• Celcom Axiata Berhad 
• CyberSecurity Malaysia
• Digi Telecommunications Sdn Bhd 
• KPMG Management & Risk Consulting Sdn Bhd 
• Maxis Bhd 
• Measat Broadcast Network Systems Sdn Bhd 
• MIMOS Berhad 
• Ministry of Energy, Science, Technology, Environment and Climate  
 Change 
• Multimedia University 
• Pejabat Ketua Pegawai Keselamatan Kerajaan Malaysia 
• Telekom Applied Business Sdn Bhd 
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd 
• U Mobile Sdn Bhd 
• Universiti Kuala Lumpur 
• Universiti Tenaga Nasional 
• VLAN Technology Sdn Bhd 
• webe digital Sdn Bhd

Activities

Scope

Information and Network Security - Monitoring and Measurement of Security Control Objectives

WG Discussion: 
Jan 2018 - Mar 2019 

WG Workshop:
17 - 19 Oct 2018 

Public Comment:
8 Feb – 10 Mar 2019

Public Engagement: 
28 Feb 2019

Provides requirements for establishing, implementing, maintaining and continually improving on 
Information Security and Network Security (INS) management system within the context of an organisation.

7. MCMC MTSFB TC G021:2019

WG: Fixed and Wireless Terminal

Contributing Members
• Celcom Axiata Berhad 
• Digi Telecommunications Sdn Bhd 
• Fraunhofer IIS 
• Maxis Communications Berhad 
• Measat Broadcast Network Systems Sdn Bhd 
• Redsun Engineering Sdn Bhd 
• SIRIM QAS International Sdn Bhd 
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd 
• TM Research and Development Sdn Bhd 
• YTL Communications Sdn Bhd

Activities

Scope

Short Range Devices - Specifications (Second Revision)

WG Discussion: 
Jan - Aug 2019

WG Workshop:
10 - 11 Oct 2019

Public Comment:
4 Nov - 3 Dec 2019 

Public Engagement: 
3 Dec 2019 

Defines the technical requirements for Short Range Devices (SRDs) operating in the frequencies as defined 
in the relevant Standard Radio System Plans (SRSPs) and the Class Assignments issued by MCMC.

8. MCMC MTSFB TC T007:2020 Registered date: 6 May 2020

WG: Security, Trust and Privacy

Contributing Members
• Celcom Axiata Berhad
• CyberSecurity Malaysia 
• Digi Telecommunications Sdn Bhd 
• Huawei Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd 
• Jabatan Penyiaran Malaysia 
• Maxis Communications Berhad 
• Orbitage Sdn Bhd 
• Telekom Applied Business Sdn Bhd 
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd 
• TIME dotCom Berhad 
• Universiti Kuala Lumpur 
• Universiti Sains Malaysia 
• webe digital Sdn Bhd

Activities

Scope

Information and Network Security - Requirements

WG Discussion: 
Jan 2018 - Feb 2019 

WG Workshop:
17 - 19 Oct 2018 

Public Comment:
8 Feb – 10 Mar 2019

Public Engagement: 
28 Feb 2019

Provides requirements for establishing, implementing, maintaining and continually improving Information 
and Network Security (INS) management systems within the context of an organisation. It also includes 
requirements for the assessment and treatment of information security risks tailored to the needs of the 
organisation. 

5. MCMC MTSFB TC G009:2019 Registered date: 4 October 2019 Registered date: 4 October 2019

Registered date: 4 October 2019
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https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MCMC-MTSFB-TC-G020_2019-INS-Cyber_Insurance_Acquisition.pdf
https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MCMC-MTSFB-TC-G021_2019-INS-Monitoring_Measurement_of_Security_Control_Objectives.pdf
https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/Short-Range-Devices-Specification.pdf
https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MCMC-MTSFB-TC-G009_2019-INS-Requirement_-First-Revision.pdf


WG: IoT and Smart Sustainable Cities

Contributing Members
• BNetworks Sdn Bhd
• Cisco Systems Malaysia
• Favoriot Sdn Bhd
• Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd.
• Intel Corporation
• Maxis Bhd
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd
• Telekom Research and Development Sdn Bhd
• Universiti Putra Malaysia
• webe digital Sdn Bhd

Activities

Scope

Internet of Things (IoT) - High-Level Functional Architecture

WG Discussion: 
Jan 2018 - Jan 2019

Public Comment:
18 Mar – 17 Apr 2019

Public Engagement: 
4 Apr 2019

Specifies requirements for IoT high level functional architecture by considering Malaysian context for IoT 
solutions. It describes high level core systems which constructs the IoT high level functional architecture. 
This functional architecture can be used for vertical use cases such as smart cities and smart agriculture.

11. MCMC MTSFB TC G022:2020

WG: Green Information and Communications Technology, Environment and 
Climate Change

Contributing Members
• Department of Occupational Safety and Health 
• Durianê E&M Consulting Engineers 
• edotco Group Sdn Bhd 
• NTT MSC Sdn Bhd 
• Sarawak Energy Berhad 
• Solar NRJ Sdn Bhd 
• Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia 
• Universiti Malaysia Kelantan 
• Universiti Sains Malaysia 
• Universiti Teknologi MARA Perlis 
• Universiti Teknologi PETRONAS 
• Universiti Tun Hussein Onn Malaysia

Activities

Scope

Hydrogen Storage and Safety with Fuel Cell as Power Generator for Information, Communications and 
Technology Infrastructure

WG Discussion: 
Jan 2017 - Apr 2019 

WG Workshop:
Apr 2019 

Public Comment:
1 - 31 Jul 2019 

Public Engagement: 
22 Jul 2019

Specifies requirements for handling, labelling and storage of hydrogen from the time it is received by the 
owner which includes safety for on-site hydrogen storage. Hydrogen is used as fuel for fuel cells that act as 
backup power supplies to ICT infrastructure which include base stations, data centres, satellite base stations 
and Internet of Things (IoT) network infrastructure.

12. MCMC MTSFB TC G023:2020

WG: Network and Broadcast Infrastructure and Facilities

Contributing Members
• Core MTX Sdn Bhd 
• Digi Telecommunications Sdn Bhd 
• edotco Group Sdn Bhd 
• Malaysian Digital Economy Corporation 
• Maxis Bhd 
• Redsun Engineering Sdn Bhd 
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd 
• TIME dotcom Bhd 
• U Mobile Sdn Bhd 
• Universiti Teknikal Malaysia

Activities

Scope

Basic Civil Works – Part 1: General Requirements

WG Workshop:
13 - 15 Nov 2019 

Public Comment:
22 Nov - 21 Dec 2019

Public Engagement: 
3 Dec 2019 

Specifies the general requirements for basic civil works for the installation and maintenance of 
communications network facilities using open trench, micro trench and horizontal directional drilling 
methods, covering: 

a) planning of civil works; 
b)  safety and precautions; 
c)  processes and procedures; 
d) traffic management plan; 

e) material specifications; 
f)  testing and acceptance; 
g)  milling and reinstatement; and 
h)  procedure for project completion.

13. MCMC MTSFB TC G025-1:2020 Registered date: 20 May 2020

WG: Broadcast Technology

Contributing Members
• LG Electronics (M) Sdn Bhd 
• Media Prima Berhad 
• MYTV Broadcasting Sdn Bhd 
• Panasonic AVC Networks Kuala Lumpur Malaysia Sdn Bhd 
• Samsung Malaysia Electronics (SME) Sdn Bhd 
• Sharp (M) Sdn Bhd 
• SIRIM QAS International Sdn Bhd 
• Sony EMCS (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

Activities

Scope

Digital Terrestrial Television (DTT) Broadcast Service Receiver - Common Test Suite (Second Revision)

WG Discussion: 
Sep - Oct 2019 

Public Comment:
15 Nov - 15 Dec 2019

Public Engagement: 
20 Nov 2019 

Specifies the test methods for the Digital Terrestrial Television (DTT) broadcast receivers to ensure its 
interoperability, functionality, quality, safety and performance.

9. MCMC MTSFB TC T011:2020

WG: Broadcast Technology

Contributing Members
• LG Electronics (M) Sdn Bhd 
• Media Prima Berhad 
• MYTV Broadcasting Sdn Bhd 
• Panasonic AVC Networks Kuala Lumpur Malaysia Sdn Bhd 
• Samsung Malaysia Electronics (SME) Sdn Bhd 
• Sharp (M) Sdn Bhd 
• SIRIM QAS International Sdn Bhd Sony EMCS (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

Activities

Scope

Digital Terrestrial Television (DTT) - Hybrid Broadcast Broadband Television Middleware Profile (Second 
Revision)

WG Discussion: 
May - Oct 2019 

Public Comment:
15 Nov - 15 Dec 2019

Public Engagement: 
20 Nov 2019

Outlines the minimum broadcast middleware requirements for Malaysia. The middleware outlined here 
is based on Hybrid broadcast broadband Television (HbbTV) consortiums hybrid platform based on open 
internet standards.

10. MCMC MTSFB TC G002:2020

Registered date: 6 May 2020 Registered date: 6 May 2020

Registered date: 6 May 2020

Registered date: 6 May 2020
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https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MTSFB0652019-IOT-HIGH-LEVEL-FUNCTIONAL-ARCHITECTURE.pdf
https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MTSFB-066_2019_Power-Generator-Hydrogen-Storage-And-Safety.pdf
https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MCMC-MTSFB-TC-G025-1_2020_Basic-Civil-Works_Part-1_General-Requirements.pdf
https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MTSFB-075_2020_DTT-Broadcast-Service-Receiver_Common-Test-Suite_Second-Revision.pdf
https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MCMC-MTSFB-TC-G002_2020-DTT-HbbTV-Middleware-Profile-Second-Revision.pdf


WG: Network and Broadcast Infrastructure and Facilities

Contributing Members
• Core MTX Sdn Bhd 
• Digi Telecommunications Sdn Bhd 
• edotco Group Sdn Bhd 
• Malaysian Digital Economy Corporation 
• Maxis Bhd 
• Redsun Engineering Sdn Bhd 
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd 
• TIME dotcom Bhd 
• U Mobile Sdn Bhd 
• Universiti Teknikal Malaysia

Activities

Scope

Basic Civil Works – Part 4: Horizontal Directional Drilling 

WG Workshop:
13 - 15 Nov 2019 

Public Comment:
22 Nov - 21 Dec 2019

Public Engagement: 
3 Dec 2019 

Specifies the requirements for horizontal directional drilling works for the installation and maintenance of 
communications network facilities, covering: 

a) planning of horizontal directional drilling works; 
b) technical specifications; and 
c) installation procedures.

16. MCMC MTSFB TC G025-4:2020

WG: Radio Network Facilities

Contributing Members
• Celcom Axiata Berhad 
• Digi Telecommunications Sdn Bhd 
• edotco Malaysia Sdn Bhd 
• Malaysia Digital Economy Corporation 
• Maxis Bhd 
• MEASAT Broadcast Network Systems 
• Redsun Engineering Sdn Bhd 
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd 
• TIME dotCom Berhad 
• U Mobile Sdn Bhd 
• webe digital Sdn Bhd 
• YTL Communications Sdn Bhd 
• Zettabits Technologies

Activities

Scope

Radiocommunications Network Facilities – Street Furniture

WG Discussion: 
Jan - Feb 2020 

Public Comment:
13 Apr - 12 May 2020

Public Engagement: 
6 May 2019 

Defines technical requirements for the installation of radiocommunications network facilities on new, 
existing or replacement structure of street furniture; design concepts used in the construction of street 
furniture for integration with radiocommunications network facilities which include structural, mechanical 
and electrical works; safety requirements at sites during and after installation of radiocommunications 
network facilities on new, existing or replacement structure of street furniture.

17. MCMC MTSFB TC G026:2020

WG: Network and Broadcast Infrastructure and Facilities

Contributing Members
• Core MTX Sdn Bhd 
• Digi Telecommunications Sdn Bhd 
• edotco Group Sdn Bhd 
• Malaysian Digital Economy Corporation 
• Maxis Bhd 
• Redsun Engineering Sdn Bhd 
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd 
• TIME dotcom Bhd 
• U Mobile Sdn Bhd 
• Universiti Teknikal Malaysia

Activities

Scope

Basic Civil Works – Part 3: Micro Trench

WG Workshop:
13 - 15 Nov 2019 

Public Comment:
22 Nov - 21 Dec 2019

Public Engagement: 
3 Dec 2019 

Specifies requirements for micro trench works for the installation and maintenance of communications 
network facilities, covering: 

a) planning for micro trench works; 
b) technical specifications; and 
c) installation procedures.

15. MCMC MTSFB TC G025-3:2020

WG: Network and Broadcast Infrastructure and Facilities

Contributing Members
• Core MTX Sdn Bhd 
• Digi Telecommunications Sdn Bhd 
• edotco Group Sdn Bhd 
• Malaysian Digital Economy Corporation 
• Maxis Bhd 
• Redsun Engineering Sdn Bhd 
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd 
• TIME dotcom Bhd 
• U Mobile Sdn Bhd 
• Universiti Teknikal Malaysia

Activities

Scope

Basic Civil Works – Part 2: Open Trench

WG Workshop:
13 - 15 Nov 2019 

Public Comment:
22 Nov - 21 Dec 2019

Public Engagement: 
3 Dec 2019 

Specifies the requirements for open trench works for the installation and maintenance of communications 
network facilities, covering: 

14. MCMC MTSFB TC G025-2:2020

a) planning for open trench works; 
b) technical specifications; and 
c) installation procedures.

Registered date: 20 May 2020 Registered date: 20 May 2020

Registered date: 20 May 2020Registered date: 20 May 2020
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https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MCMC-MTSFB-TC-G025-4_2020_Basic-Civil-Works_Part-4_Horizontal-Directional-Drilling.pdf
https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MCMC-MTSFB-TC-G026_2020_Radiocommunications-Network-Facilities-Street-Furniture.pdf
https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MCMC-MTSFB-TC-G025-3_2020_Basic-Civil-Works_Part-3_Micro-Trench.pdf
https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MCMC-MTSFB-TC-G025-2_2020_Basic-Civil-Works_Part-2_Open-Trench.pdf


WG: Network and Broadcast Infrastructure and Facilities

Contributing Members
• Core MTX Sdn Bhd 
• Digi Telecommunications Sdn Bhd 
• edotco Group Sdn Bhd 
• Malaysian Digital Economy Corporation 
• Maxis Bhd 
• Redsun Engineering Sdn Bhd 
• Telekom Malaysia Bhd 
• TIME dotcom Bhd 
• U Mobile Sdn Bhd 
• Universiti Teknikal Malaysia

Activities

Fixed Network Facilities – In-building and External

WG Discussion: 
Jul - Nov 2019

WG Workshop:
13 - 15 Nov 2019

Public Comment:
22 Nov - 21 Dec 2019 

Public Engagement: 
3 Dec 2019 

Scope
Specifies the requirements for in-building and external fixed network facilities for Single Dwelling Unit 
(SDU), Multi Dwelling Unit (MDU) and campus type.

18. MCMC MTSFB TC G024:2020 Registered date: 3 June 2020

9 TCs SUBMITTED TO MCMC 

Internet of Things and 
Smart Sustainable Cities

IMT & Future Networks

Fixed and Wireless 
Terminal

Internet of Things and 
Smart Sustainable Cities

Security, Trust and Privacy

Network and Broadcast 
Infrastructure and Facilities

IMT & Future Networks

Fixed and Wireless 
Terminal

Security, Trust and Privacy

Working Group

Working Group

Working Group

Working Group

Working Group

Working Group

Working Group

Working Group

Working Group

INTERNET OF THINGS 
(IOT) - DEFINITIONS 
AND TERMINOLOGIES

PREDICTION AND 
MEASUREMENTS 
FOR EMF EXPOSURE 
FROM BASE STATION

IMT-2020 (FIFTH 
GENERATION) – 
BASE STATION

INTERNET OF THINGS  
(IOT) - USE CASES

IMT-2020 (FIFTH 
GENERATION) – SECURITY 
REQUIREMENTS

FIXED NETWORK FACILITIES 
– IN-BUILDING AND 
EXTERNAL (BROWNFIELD 
MULTI DWELLING UNIT)

IMT-2020 (FIFTH 
GENERATION) - 
SPECIFICATIONS SYSTEM

IMT-2020 (FIFTH 
GENERATION) – USER 
EQUIPMENT

INFORMATION AND 
NETWORK SECURITY - 
CAPABILITY DEVELOPMENT 
AND CAPACITY BUILDING

2

5

8

3

6

9

1

4

7

Stimulate  Growth 
The Industry Promotion and Development Grant (IPDG) was aimed to support Proof-of-Concept (PoC) projects 
that contribute to the communications and multimedia industry. Mooted by MCMC in 2012, its purpose is to 
enhance knowledge, encourage research and development (R&D) and establish competitiveness in technology 
innovation. 

MTSFB is entrusted by MCMC to manage the IPDG and to supervise the projects implemented by Grant recipients.

In 2019 and 2020, MTSFB managed a total of eight IPDG projects.  We are delighted to be given the opportunity 
to work with forward-looking partners in a number of ground-breaking initiatives.

IoT & New Technologies innovation 
and growth in the local industry 

towards smart digital nation

Completed 
Projects4 4 Ongoing 

Projects

Green ICT (GICT) within the field 
of communication network and 

infrastructure

Industry Promotion and Development Grant 

Types of PoC Projects
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https://www.mcmc.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/MCMC-MTSFB-TC-G024_2020_Fixed-Network-Facilities_In-Building-and-External.pdf


1. e-PADI - An IoT-Based Paddy Productivity  
 Monitoring and Advisory System 

Universiti Malaysia Perlis (UNIMAP)
Collaborator : Masdar Agro
Site : MASDAR AGRO, Kuala Nerang,  
   Kedah

Status : Completed 

An IoT-based paddy productivity monitoring and 
advisory system through the deployment of real-time 
wireless sensor nodes. It allows for the measurement of 
soil acidity, water level and soil nutrients in the paddy 
field through a mobile app to encourage higher yield. 

2. Elderly Care IoT Platform & Solution 

Favoriot Sdn Bhd 
Collaborator : MKM Ticketing 
Site : MKM Ticketing Travel & Tour,  
   Shah Alam, Selangor 

Status : Completed 

A wearable device and other connected health 
devices, platform and front-end applications for the 
elderly that utilises an IoT ecosystem named Raqib. 
It provides real-time monitoring such as the wearer’s 
latest location and basic health parameters. 

Solar panel installed as part of the e-PADI Project at 
Batu 19, Kampung Sena, Kuala Nerang, Kedah.

3. Wireless Powered Passive Tag Automatic  
 Identification for Vehicle Security and  
 Services with Energy & Harvesting  
 Capability 

Universiti Putra Malaysia
Collaborator : Wafina Sdn Bhd & Me’nate Steak  
   Hub Sdn Bhd 
Site : Me’nate Steak Hub Setapak, KL 

Status : Completed 

Development of a new wireless device and 
protocol for vehicle-tagging with wireless charging 
capabilities. The project will also implement a case-
study on smart drive-through takeaway system (SDT). 

The wireless power passive tag installed at Me’nate Steak 
Hub Setapak

The proof of concept (PoC) of the wearable device that 
monitors and gathers health condition.

4. Development of Energy-Efficient,  
 Long Range Communication System for  
 Environmental Monitoring Using Low  
 Power Wide Area Networks for Internet  
 of Things 

Universiti Putra Malaysia 
Collaborator : Universiti Malaysia Terengganu,  
   Stesen Penyelidikan Marin, Pulau  
   Bidong Terengganu
Site : Pusat Penyelidikan Marin,  
   Pulau Bidong, Terengganu

Status : Completed 

A remote, long-range and energy-efficient 
environmental monitoring system using Low Power 
Wide Area Network (LPWAN) technology for various 
parameters at Pulau Bidong such as temperature, 
humidity, PH value of water and turbidity. 

The installation of the transmiter at Pulau Bidong, 
Terengganu
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5. Smart Urban Farming for Vegetables  
 (V-SUrF)

Universiti Teknologi MARA 
Collaborator : Pangsapuri Baiduri Community 
Site : Pangsapuri Baiduri, Seksyen 7  
   Shah Alam, Selangor 

Status : Ongoing  

Utilisation of the cloud-IoT platform in urban 
farming with the aim to develop a Decision Support 
System (DSS) and smart scheduling system that 
automatically triggers urban farm sensors. The 
system will be integrated into a mobile app. 

6. Advanced Vehicle Monitoring & Assistance System (AVMS)

Heriot Watt University
Collaborator : CPE Energy Sdn Bhd & Cyberview
Site : MCMC Centre of Excellence, Cyberjaya

Status : Ongoing  

Development of a speed monitoring and driver’s alert awareness feedback control system, 
and implementation of a driving assistance system using lane tracking method. This 
system also provides real-time information of vehicle activities through an access portal. 

7. Tree Hugger @ Cyberjaya

iCYCLE Malaysia
Collaborator : Cyberview
Site : Multimedia University, Cyberjaya

Status : Ongoing  

Development of a mobile app to monitor recycling 
activities. It helps keep track of individual carbon 
footprint, contributing to the reduction of the 
nation’s carbon emissions by a high quality recovery 
process for valuable materials in electronic waste. 

8. Low Cost Acoustic Surveillance Intrusion  
 Detection System for Wildlife Protection  
 (ASIDS)

UiTM 
Collaborator : Wildlife Conservation Society (WCS)  
   Malaysia & Taman Negara Endau- 
   Rompin, Johor
Site : Sungai Dusun Wildlife Conservation  
   Centre, Kuala Kubu Bharu, Selangor

Status : Ongoing  

Development of an autonomous wildlife intrusion 
detection system (ASIDS) using recent machine 
learning techniques and a hybrid computing 
optimisation method for optimal performance.

Grant Briefing Session 

On 21 July 2020, MTSFB held an online Grant Briefing Session with new applicants of the IPDG. 
This serves as a platform to communicate with industry players through presentation and Q&A. 
Among the topics discussed include the objectives, focus areas, eligibility criteria, quantum 

and duration, application and evaluation process.  

Digitalisation of IPDG 

Starting from the year 2020, the 
application and the evaluation process 

of IPDG is now completely online.  

The Tree Hugger app uses the QR code to track individual 
carbon footprint through recycling

Site visit at Pusat 
Konservasi Tapir 

Sg Dusun, Ulu 
Selangor to test 

the ASIDS system

A pallet planter equipped with an IoT platform for 
smart urban farming.

The AVMS being showcased at 
MCMC Cyberjaya, featured in TV3

MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

41 42

PURSUIT FOR EXCELLENCE



CONTRIBUTION TO 
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50 MOVING FORWARD

MTSFB actively contributes 
to standard development 
activities to accelerate 
the growth of the 
communications and 
multimedia industry, at 
home and abroad

InfluencingProgress 
There are no boundaries when it comes to technology. MTSFB participates in various international work and 
expert groups to drive progress in the industry and ensure that Malaysia’s interests are represented in the efforts 
to develop standards that will shape our world. 

Involvement in Standardisation Activities Abroad

During these meetings, MTSFB submitted two contribution papers as follows:

No. Document Title Status Editor

1 L.Sup.BP_EF

A Guideline on best 
practices and environment 
friendly policies for effective 
ICT deployment methods

Under Study Ratnam N.A.

2 L.ewaste-base_station
Scheduled waste 

management for base 
station (inclusive of e-waste)

Under Study Assoc. Prof. Dr Tan 
Ching Seong

Date MTSFB Representative Location

16 - 20 September 2019 Assoc. Prof. Dr Tan Ching Seong Geneva

11 - 20 May 2020 Assoc. Prof. Dr Tan Ching Seong Virtual

1. ITU-T Study Group 5 - Environment and Climate Change

The International Telecommunication Union’s Telecommunication Standardisation Sector (ITU-T) is a platform 
for countries and companies to develop international standards in ICT. These standards or Recommendations are 
developed by Study Groups that coordinate and lead studies in a range of related issues. 

Study Group 5 (SG5) of ITU-T lead studies on ICT’s impact on the environment and climate change. 

MTSFB participated in the following meetings:
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2. ITU-T Study Group 17 - Security

The ITU-T Study Group 17 (SG17) focuses on facilitating secure information and communication technologies (ICT) 
infrastructure, services and applications to enhance confidence and security in the use of ICT. 

MTSFB participated in the following meetings:

3. ITU-T Study Group 20 - Internet of Things (IoT) and smart cities and communities (SC&C)

4. APT Standardisation Program (ASTAP)

During these meetings, MTSFB submitted two contribution papers as follows:

During this meeting, MTSFB submitted two contribution papers as follows:

No. Document Title Status Editor

1 X.sup-myuc

Code of practice for information 
security control base on 

ITU-T X.1051 for Malaysian 
telecommunications organizations 
information and network security 

management

Approved 1. Rafeah Omar
2. Thaib Mustafa

2 X.ciag

Cyber insurance acquisition 
guideline for Information and 
Communication Technologies 

(ICT) services provider

Under Study 1. Thaib Mustafa
2. Ong Yew Seng

No. Title Editor

1
Resolution 78 - Information and communication 
technology applications and standards for improved 
access to e-health services

1. Dr. Gopinath Rao Sinniah
2. Juhaida Badrul Amini 
3. Norkhadra Nawawi 

2
Resolution 98  - Enhancing the standardization of 
Internet of things and smart cities and communities 
for global development

1. Dr. Gopinath Rao Sinniah
2. Juhaida Badrul Amini 
3. Norkhadra Nawawi 

Date MTSFB Representative Location

21 - 30 January 2019 
27 August - 5 September 2020 Thaib Mustafa Geneva

16 - 26 March 2020
24 August - 3 September 2020

1. Azlan Mohamed Ghazali 
2. Azrina Ibramsha 
3. Mohammad Hafiz Halal
4. Mohd Fairuz Ismail 
5. Mohd Mokhtar Daud 
6. Muhaimin Mat Salleh 
7. Nicholas Ng 
8. Norazlina Dato’ Ghazali 
9. Norkhadhra Nawawi 
10. Ong Yew Seng 
11. Prof. Dr. Shahrulniza Musa 
12. Rafeah Omar
13. Thaib Mustafa 
14. Wong Chup Woh 
15. Yuwanthiran Sukalingam 
16. Yuzie Aznita Mat Yassin 

Virtual

The ITU-T Study Group 20 (SG20) works towards the standardisation of Internet of Things (IoT) technologies to 
ensure the interoperability of their applications across industry sectors.

MTSFB participated in the following meeting:

Date MTSFB Representative Location

6 - 16 July 2020

1. Adil Hidayat  
2. Ahmad Syazilie Shamsuddin 
3. Dr Ahmad Helmi Azhar  
4. Dr Gopinath Rao Sinniah  
5. Mohamad Norzamir Mat Taib  
6. Mohd Mokhtar Daud  
7. Norazlina Dato’ Ghazali  
8. Norkhadhra Nawawi  
9. Wong Chup Who

Virtual

Date MTSFB Representative Location

ASTAP 31 
11 - 15 June 2019

1. Dr. Gopinath Rao Sinniah   
2. Ratnam N.A.
3. Thaib Mustafa   

Tokyo, Japan

ASTAP 32 
16 - 20 November 2020

1. Dr. Gopinath Rao Sinniah   
2. Mohamad Norzamir Mat Taib 
3. Mohamed Hafiz Halal   
4. Mohd Mokhtar Daud 
5. Mohd Zakir Hussin Baharuddin   
6. Muhaimin Mat Salleh   
7. Norazlina Dato’ Ghazali   
8. Norkhadhra Nawawi
9. Ratnam N.A.
10. Thaib Mustafa
11. Yuzie Aznita Mat Yasin 

Virtual

The Asia-Pacific Telecommunity (APT) Standardization Program (ASTAP) was established to facilitate 
regional cooperation in the development of international standards. It serves as a platform to promote 
the exchange of knowledge and expertise among APT members in the areas of telecommunications  
and ICT. 

MTSFB participated in the following meetings:

During these meetings, MTSFB submitted six contribution papers as follows:

No. Expert 
Group Work Plan No Title Contributions Editor

1 IOT IOT-3
Requirements and 
Framework of IoT 

Elderly Care Solutions
INP-32, 34 Dr. Gopinath Rao Sinniah

2 IS IS-3

Security Guidelines 
for Information and 

Network Security 
Management

INP-31 1. Rafeah Omar
2. Thaib Mustafa

3 BSG BSG-3

Guideline on setting 
up National ICT 
Standardization 

Regime

N/A Thaib Mustafa

MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

45 46

CONTRIBUTION TO STANDARDISATION ACTIVITIES



5. APT Preparatory Group for ITU World Telecommunication Standardization Assembly 2020 (APT WTSA-20)

No. Title Editor

1
Resolution 2 - ITU Telecommunication 
Standardization Sector study group 
responsibility and mandates

1. Abdul Karim Abdul Razak
2. Aiman Hilmi Azhar
3. Thaib Mustafa

2 Resolution 52 - Countering and combating 
spam

1. Hazirah Md Nawi  
2. Nadia Hazwani Yaakob  
3. Nor Hashikin Rohani  
4. Norkhadhra Nawawi  
5. Ong Yew Seng  
6. Thaib Mustafa

3
Resolution 58 - Encouraging the creation of 
national computer incident response teams, 
particularly for developing countries

1. Azlan Mohamed Ghazali 
2. Hazirah Md Nawi 
3. Nor Hashikin Rohani 
4. Norkhadhra Nawawi 
5. Ong Yew Seng 
6. Thaib Mustafa 
7. Wan Amir Alauddin Wan Sharifuddin

4
Resolution 64  - Internet protocol address 
allocation and facilitating the transition to and 
deployment of IPv6

1. Azura Mat Salim 
2. Juhaida Badrul Amini 
3. Norkhadhra Nawawi

5

Resolution 78 - Information and 
communication technology applications and 
standards for improved access to e-health 
services

1. Dr. Gopinath Rao Sinniah  
2. Juhaida Badrul Amini  
3. Norkhadra Nawawi

6

Resolution 84  - Studies concerning the 
protection of users of telecommunication/
information and communication technology 
services

1. Hazirah Md Nawi  
2. Nor Hashikin Rohani  
3. Norkhadhra Nawawi  
4. Ong Yew Seng  
5. Thaib Mustafa  
6. Wan Amir Alauddin Wan Sharifuddin

7 Resolution 93 - Interconnection of 4G, IMT-2020 
networks and beyond

1. Ahmad Zulhelmi Ab Hamid 
2. Mohammad Hafiz Halal 
3. Yeoh Chun Yeow

8
Resolution 98  - Enhancing the standardization 
of Internet of things and smart cities and 
communities for global development

1. Dr. Gopinath Rao Sinniah  
2. Juhaida Badrul Amini  
3. Norkhadra Nawawi

During these meetings, MTSFB submitted eight contribution papers as follows:

APT WTSA assists APT members in preparing coordinated regional contributions to the ITU World 
Telecommunication Standardization Assembly (WTSA). The Group ensures that the members’ interests relating 
to telecommunication standardisation issues are effectively communicated and represented. 

The WTSAs are quadrennial assemblies that define the future direction and period of study of the ITU-T. 

MTSFB participated in the following meetings:

Date MTSFB Representative Location

11 - 15 June 2019
1. Dr. Gopinath Rao Sinniah      
2. Ratnam N.A.
3. Thaib Mustafa

Tokyo, Japan

13 - 15 May 2020
13 - 17 July 2020

16 - 20 November 2020

1. Adil Hidayat Rosli
2. Ahmad Faizan Pardi
3. Assoc. Prof. Dr Tan Ching Seong
4. Azlan Mohamad Ghazali
5. Azura Mat Salim
6. Dr Gopinath Rao Sinniah
7. Mazlan Mahdi
8. Mohamad Norzamir Mat Taib
9. Mohammad Hafiz Halal
10. Mohd Mokhtar Daud
11. Mohd Yusairi Abu Hassan
12. Mohd Zakir Hussin Baharuddin
13. Muhaimin Mat Salleh
14. Muhammad Nur Syafiq Abd Aziz
15. Navinkumar Palani Velu
16. Norazlina Dato’ Ghazali 
17. Norkhadhra Nawawi
18. Ong Yew Seng
19. Prof Dr Shahrulniza Musa
20. Prof. Dr. Borhanuddin Mohd Ali
21. Rakuram Gandhi
22. Ratnam N.A.
23. Syaida Syarafina Sohaimi
24. Thaib Mustafa  
25. Wan Zarina Wan Abdullah
26. Wong Chup Woh
27. Yeoh Chun Yeow
28. Yesotha Surendran
29. Yuwanthiran Sukalingam
30. Yuzie  Aznita Mat Yasin

Virtual

No. Expert 
Group Work Plan No Title Contributions Editor

4 GICT&EMF GICT&EMF-1

Status Report on 
Efforts to Green Data 

Centres in the ICT/
Telecommunication 

Sector in the APT 
member countries

INP-45 Alex Kuik

5 GICT&EMF GICT&EMF-3

Status Report of 
Asia Pacific Regional 
Activities on Human 

Exposure to EMF (EMF 
impact)

INP-54 Alex Kuik

6 GICT&EMF GICT&EMF-4

APT members’ status 
on the Deployment of 
Green or Environment 

friendly ICT project

INP-30 Ratnam N.A.
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Propelling MovingA Digital ForwardEconomy 
As the standardisation body for the communications and multimedia industry in Malaysia, MTSFB plays an 
important role in driving the nation’s digital economy aspirations. We take part in multiple standardisation 
meetings with our stakeholders in government and industry to ensure the smooth deployment and interoperability 
of new technologies in the country. 

MTSFB participated in the following meetings and initiatives:

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a profound effect 
on people and businesses. The shift in the way we 
work and manage stakeholders, and the need for 
online engagements in the new normal will likely 
continue for the foreseeable future. Adjusting to this 
new culture will be key for MTSFB in 2021, especially 
when we engage with members of the WGs and 
internally among the Office Bearers. This calls for the 
need to adapt and grow, to be more agile, effective 
and efficient. The pandemic has also showcased that 
digitalisation is a necessity rather than an option, and 
MTSFB needs to be ready to respond to this shift to 
better support the national agenda. 

MTSFB was able to quickly adapt. Flexible online 
arrangements have facilitated positive discussions 
among the WGs. However, the risks of maintaining 
quality discussions that can normally be achieved 
through face-to-face meetings are still present. To 
ensure that the objectives of the WGs are achieved, 
the usage of various online communication channels 
and platforms is essential to the overall process of TC 
development.

With restrictions on gatherings and seminars, special 
events for members will be limited. This poses a 
challenge in terms of keeping members engaged 

Involvement in Domestic Standardisation Meetings  2021 and Beyond

Others 

• Technical Committee Meeting TC/G/16, Internet of  
 Things and Related Technologies Bil. 1/2019 
• Technical Committee Meeting TC/G/5, Information  
 Security Bil. 1/2019 and  Discussion to Prepare the  
 Malaysian Delegation to France 
• Innovation and Technology Working Group  
 Workshop, Review Study on the Personal Data  
 Protection Act 2010 (Act 709)
• Smart Technology Summit 2019: Towards  
 Sustainable National Development

• Conference and Workshop 
• Assessment Workshop
• Member of the National 5G Task Force 

5G 

• Assessment of Technical Codes
• Workshop on Standards Development

National 
Fiberisation and 
Connectivity Plan 
(NFCP)  

outside of their involvement in the WGs and attracting 
new members. In addition, feedback from members 
reveals there is a strong interest in individual-based 
memberships, especially when members of WGs 
had a career change but still wishes to contribute 
to the group. A relook on the membership benefits 
and options would be imperative for MTSFB’s 
membership management moving forward.

The demand on new and emerging technologies 
will also come with the need to self-regulate 
and to set certain standards for the industry to 
deliver services to the end users. The industry 
must be prepared to support the national agenda, 
particularly in 5G technology to improve connectivity 
and communication for the nation. MTSFB will play 
a crucial role in becoming the platform for the 
industry to set this in motion.

The far-reaching impact of the pandemic has placed 
global digitalisation efforts on overdrive. MTSFB, as 
the leading standardisation body for the nation’s 
communications and multimedia industry is 
committed to catapult Malaysia’s digital aspirations 
to new heights. As such, we are always ready to grow 
and overcome challenges to better serve the nation 
and the industry. 

• Working Group WG/G/5-2, Cryptography and  
 Security Mechanism Bil. 1/2020
• Technical Committee Meeting TC/G/5 Information  
 Security Bil. 1/2020
• Industry 4.0 Safety Guidelines Refining Workshop 
• Digital Infrastructure and Data Cluster, National  
 Digital Economy and 4IR Council
• Preparation of Proposal Paper for the Twelfth  
 Malaysian Plan Workshop “Digitalising Malaysian  
 Economy”, Technical Working Group (TWG) Digital  
 Industry
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

The directors hereby submit their report together with the audited financial statements of the Company for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2020 .

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is principally engaged in promoting the development of standards and safety of network 
facilities, establishing and maintaining standards, technical codes, network interoperability and operational 
issues affecting the Malaysian communications and multimedia industry and to develop, recommend, modify, 
update and seek registration of technical codes from time to time.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the year.

RESULTS

DIVIDENDS

In accordance with the Memorandum of Association, no dividends are payable to the Members of the 
Company.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year.

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The names of the directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the date of this 
report are:

Abdulhadi bin Wahid  
Fami bin Abdul Hamid  
Norazizan bin Mohamad  
Liew Sze Yarn
Abdul Aziz bin Long  
Nivendran A/L Veerappan
Azni Risa binti Ramlan
Mohd Hanizam bin Mohammed
 (Alternate director to Abdulhadi bin Wahid)
Norhafizah binti Ghani
 (Alternate Director to Arni Risa binti RamIan)
Mohd Fuad bin Romeli
 (Alternate director to Liew Sze Yarn)

RM

Operating deficit after taxation (22,880)

Accumulated surplus brought forward 883,237

Accumulated surplus carried forward 860,357

FINANCIAL YEAR 
STATEMENT 2020
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Mohammad Isa bin Mohd Razhali
 (Alternate director to Nivendran Veerappan) 
Dato’ Ismail bin Osman     (Deceased on 28.5.2020)
Amirah binti Abd Majid
 (Alternate director to Dato’ Ismail bin Osman)  (Resigned w.e.f. 28.5.2020)

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST

The Company is a company limited by guarantee and thus has no shares in which the directors could have an 
interest. The Company has not issued any debentures.

In the event of the Company being wound up, each member of the Company undertakes to contribute a 
maximum of RMl00 to the assets of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit 
(other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the 
directors shown in the financial statements or fixed salary of a full-time employee of the Company) by reason 
of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with any director or with a firm of which he is a 
member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

Before the financial statements of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps:

(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of  
 provision for bad and doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that no known bad debts had been written  
 off and that no provision had been made for bad and doubtful debts; and

(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their value as shown in the accounting  
 records in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be  
 expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:

(i) the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for bad and doubtful debts inadequate  
 to any substantial extent; and

(ii) the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Company misleading.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would 
render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Company misleading or 
inappropriate.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this 
report or financial statements of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial 
statements misleading.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

As at the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i) any charge on the assets of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which secures  
 the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii) any contingent liability of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

In the opinion of the directors:

(i) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period  
 of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Company to  
 meet their obligations when they fall due; and

(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of  
 the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the  
 operations of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

INDEMNIFYING DIRECTORS, OFFICERS OR AUDITORS

No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the year, for any 
person who is or has been director, officer or auditor of the Company.

AUDITORS

The auditors, Messrs. Khairuddin Hasyudeen & Razi, retire and have expressed their willingness to accept re-
appointment.

The remuneration of the auditors is disclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors,

NORAZIZAN BIN MOHAMAD
Director

AZNI RISA BINTI RAMLAN
Director

Kuala Lumpur  
Dated: 6 MAY 2021
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 251(2) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2016

STATUTORY DECLARATION 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 251(1)(b) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2016

We, NORAZIZAN BIN MOHAMAD and AZNI RISA BINTI RAMLAN, two of the directors of MALAYSIAN 
TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD., do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying 
financial statements set out on pages 10 to 39 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions of the Companies Act, 2016 in 
Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2020 and 
of its financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors,

NORAZIZAN BIN MOHAMAD
Director

AZNI RISA BINTI RAMLAN
Director

Kuala Lumpur  
Dated: 6 MAY 2021

I, ZALEHA BINTI ABU BAKAR, the officer primarily responsible for the accounting records and financial 
management of MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD., do solemnly and sincerely declare that 
the financial statements set out on pages 10 to 39 are to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and 
make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of 
the Statutory Declaration Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by   )

ZALEHA BINTI ABU BAKAR    )

at Kuala Lumpur in the     )

Federal Territory Kuala Lumpur on  6 MAY 2021  )

          ZALEHA BINTI ABU BAKAR

Before me,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD., which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out 
on pages 60 to 88.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 
31 December 2020, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International 
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and 
Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the Directors’ Report but does not include the financial statements of the Company and our auditors’ report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Company does not cover the Directors’ Report and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Company, our responsibility is to read the 
Directors’ Report and, in doing so, consider whether the Directors’ Report is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the Directors’ 
Report, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia. The directors are also responsible for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Company, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Company as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion . Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Company, whether  
 due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit  
 evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a  
 material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve  
 collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that  
 are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness  
 of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates  
 and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based  
 on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that  
 may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a  
 material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related  
 disclosures in the financial statements of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our  
 opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.  
 However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Company,  
 including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Company represent the underlying  
 transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

Other Matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the 
Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person 
for the content of this report.

KHAIRUDDIN HASYUDEEN & RAZI  
AF 1161
Chartered Accountants

Kuala Lumpur  
Dated: 6 May 2021

Ahmad Khairuddin bin Mat Salleh
01574/03/2023 J
Partner of the Firm

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF MALAYSIAN TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

NOTE 2020 2019

RM RM

ASSETS

Non-Current Asset

Property, plant and equipment 5 3,235 1,397

3,235 1,397

Current Assets

Amount due from members 6 48,513 144,674

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 7 2,946 5,868

Tax recoverable 18,260 9,760

Cash and cash equivalents 8 3,009,748 2,900,772

3,079,467 3,061,074

TOTAL ASSETS 3,082,702 3,062,471

EQUITY

Non-distributable fund

 Membership fund 9 159,000 154,000

 Accumulated surplus 860,357 883,237

Total Equity 1,019,357 1,037,237

LIABILITIES

Non-Current Liability

Project grants 10 1,525,377 1,666,752

1,525,377 1,666,752

Current Liability

Other payables and accruals 11 537,968 358,482

537,968 358,482

Total Liabilities 2,063,345 2,025,234

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3,082,702 3,062,471

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NON-DISTRIBUTABLE FUND  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

NOTE 2020 2019

RM RM

Revenue 12 383,127 363,096

Other operating income 13 1,422,225 1,617,668

Operating expenses (1,828,232) (1,739,588)

Operating (deficit)/surplus before taxation 14 (22,880) 241,176

Taxation 15 - (651)

Net operating (deficit)/surplus after taxation (22,880) 240,525

Membership
fund

Accumulated
surplus Total

RM RM RM

Balance as at 31 December 2018 152,000 642,712 794,712

Subscription from members 2,000 - 2,000

Surplus of income over expenditure  
for financial year

- 240,525 240,525

Balance as at 31 December 2019 154,000 883,237 1,037,237

Subscription from members 5,000 - 5,000

Deficit of income over expenditure  
for financial year

- (22,880) (22,880)

Balance as at 31 December 2020 159,000 860,357 1,019,357

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020 2019

RM RM

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating (deficit)/surplus before taxation (22,880) 241,176

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,688 31,537

Impairment losses on amount due from members 86,737 -

Operating surplus before working capital changes 66,545 272,713

Decrease in amount due from members  
and other receivables

12,346 893,230

Increase in trade and other payables 179,486 143,153

Cash generated from operations 258,377 1,309,096

Income taxes paid (8,500) (10,000)

Income taxes refund - 5,489

Net cash generated from operating activities 249,877 1,304,585

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,526) (1,492)

Net cash used in investing activity (4,526) (1,492)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from members’ initial contribution 5,000 2,000

Disbursement of grants during the year (141,375) (342,017)

Net cash used in by financing activities (136,375) (340,017)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 108,976 963,076

Cash and cash equivalents brought forward 2,900,772 1,937,696

Cash and cash equivalents carried forward (Note 8) 3,009,748 2,900,772

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

1. GENERAL

 (a) The Company is principally engaged in promoting the development of standards and safety  
  of network facilities, establishing and maintaining standards, technical codes, network interoperability  
  and operational issues affecting the Malaysian communications and multimedia industry and to  
  develop, recommend, modify, update and seek registration of technical codes from time to time.
 
  There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the year.

 (b) The principal place of business is located at Malaysian Communications & Multimedia Commission, Off  
  Persiaran Multimedia, Jalan Impact, 63000 Cyberjaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan.

 (c) The registered office is located at 12th Floor, Menara Symphony, No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen  
  13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 (a) Statement of compliance

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with  
 Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (MFRSs), International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and  
 the requirement of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia.

 New and revised MFRS Standards, Interpretations and Amendments

 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial period.

 The following pronouncements that have been issued by the MASB has become effective in the current  
 financial reporting period and have been adopted by the Company in these financial statements:

 MFRSs, Interpretations and Amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after l January  
 2020:

 • Amendments to MFRS 3 Business Combinations - Definition of a Business
 • Amendments to MFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
 • Amendments to MFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
 • Amendments to MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements - Definition of Material

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020
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 MFRSs and Amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023:

 • MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
 • Amendments to MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
 • Amendments to MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification of Liabilities as  
  Current or Non-current

 The Company plans to apply the abovementioned accounting standards, interpretations and  
 amendments from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2021 for those accounting standards,  
 interpretations and amendments, that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January  
 2021.

 The initial application of the accounting standards, interpretations or amendments are not expected  
 to have any material financial impacts to the current period and prior period financial statements of  
 the Company.

 (b) Basis of measurement

 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis other than as disclosed in  
 Note 4.

 (c) Functional and presentation currency

 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is the Groups and the Company’s  
 functional currency unless otherwise stated.

 (d) Use of estimates and judgements

 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires Directors to make  
 judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the  
 reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these  
 estimates.

 For the current financial year, there were no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical  
 judgements in applying accounting policies that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in  
 the financial statements, other than those disclosed in Note 6 - Impairment of amount due from  
 members.

3. DATE OF AUTHORISATION OF ISSUE

 The financial statements were authorised and issued by the Board of Directors on 6 May 2021.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020

 • Amendments to MFRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors - Definition  
  of Material
 • Amendments to MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Interest Rate  
  Benchmark Reform
 • The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (“Framework”)

 The adoption of the above amendments and improvements to MFRSs did not have any significant effect  
 on the financial performance and position of the Company.

 New and revised MFRS Standards, Interpretations and Amendments in issue but not yet effective

 The following are accounting standards and amendments of the MFRS Framework that have been issued  
 by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (MASB) which are not yet effective and have not been  
 adopted by the Company:

 MFRSs and Amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020:

 • Amendment to MFRS 16 Leases - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

 MFRSs and Amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021:

 • Amendments to MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform-Phase 2
 • Amendments to MFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform-Phase 2
 • Amendments to MFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform-Phase 2
 • Amendments to MFRS 16 Leases - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform-Phase 2
 • Amendments to MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Interest Rate  
  Benchmark Reform-Phase 2

 MFRSs and Amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022:

 • Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018-2020
 • Amendments to MFRS 3 Business Combinations - Reference to the Conceptual Framework
 • Amendments to MFRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment - Property, Plant and Equipment-Proceeds  
  before Intended Use
 • Amendments to MFRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets - Onerous Contracts  
  - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the periods presented in the  
 financial statements, and have been consistently by the Company, unless otherwise stated.

 (a) Financial instruments

  (i) Recognition and initial measurement

   A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position  
   when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the  
   instrument.

   A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without significant financing component)  
   or a financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at fair  
   value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition  
   or issuance. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured  
   at the transaction price.

   An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract where the host  
   contract is not a financial asset, and accounted for separately if, and only if, the derivative is  
   not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the  
   host contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. The host contract, in the  
   event an embedded derivative is recognised separately, is accounted for in accordance with  
   policy applicable to the nature of the host contract .

  (ii) Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement

   Financial assets

   Categories of financial assets are determined on initial recognition and are not reclassified  
   subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business model for  
   managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the  
   first day of the first reporting period following the change of the business model.

   (a) Amortised cost

    Amortised cost category comprises financial assets that are held within a business  
    model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and its  
    contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of  
    principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

    The financial assets are not designated as fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent  
    to initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the  
    effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest  
    income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or  
    loss.

    Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

    Interest income is recognised by applying effective interest rate to the gross carrying  
    amount except for credit impaired financial assets (see Note 4(d)(i)) where the effective  
    interest rate is applied to the amortised cost.

   (b) Fair value through other comprehensive income

    (i) Debt investments

     Fair value through other comprehensive income category comprises debt  
     investment where it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved  
     by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the debt investment, and  
     its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely  
     payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. The  
     debt investment is not designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

     Interest income calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange  
     gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains  
     and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income.

     On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensive  
     income are reclassified to profit or loss.

     Interest income is recognised by applying effective interest rate to the gross  
     carrying amount except for credit impaired financial assets (see Note 4(d)(i))  
     where the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost .
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   Financial liabilities

   The categories of financial liabilities at initial recognition are as follows:

   (a) Fair value through profit or loss

    Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial liabilities that are  
    derivatives (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated  
    and effective hedging instrument), contingent consideration in a business combination  
    and financial liabilities that are specifically designated into this category upon initial  
    recognition.

    On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial liability that  
    otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost as at fair value  
    through profit or loss:

    (i) if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that  
     would otherwise arise;

    (ii) a group of financial liabilities or assets and financial liabilities is managed  
     and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a  
     documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about  
     the group is provided internally on that basis to the Company’s key management  
     personnel; or

    (iii) if a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives and the host is not a  
     financial asset in the scope of MFRS 9, where the embedded derivative  
     significantly modifies the cash flows and separation is not prohibited.

    Financial liabilities categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently  
    measured at their fair value with gains or losses, including any interest expense are  
    recognised in the profit or loss.

    For financial liabilities where it is designated as fair value through profit or loss upon  
    initial recognition, the Company recognises the amount of change in fair value of the  
    financial liability that is attributable to change in credit risk in the other comprehensive  
    income and remaining amount of the change in fair value in the profit or loss, unless the  
    treatment of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk would create or enlarge  
    an accounting mismatch.
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    (ii) Equity investments

     This category comprises investment in equity that is not held for trading, and the  
     Company irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s  
     fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on an  
     investment-by-investment basis. Dividends are recognised as income in profit  
     or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of  
     investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive  
     income.

     On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensive  
     income are not reclassified to profit or loss.

   (c) Fair value through profit or loss

    All financial assets not measured at amortised cost or fair value through  
    other comprehensive income as described above are measured at fair value through  
    profit or loss. This includes derivative financial assets (except for a derivative that is a  
    designated and effective hedging instrument).

    On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that  
    otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at fair value  
    through other comprehensive income as at fair value through profit or loss if doing so  
    eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise  
    arise.

    Financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently  
    measured at their fair value. Net gains or losses, including any interest or dividend  
    income, are recognised in the profit or loss.

   All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss and equity  
   investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, are subject to  
   impairment assessment (see Note 4(d)(i)).
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 (b) Property, plant and equipment

  (i) Recognition and measurement

   Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation  
   and any accumulated impairment losses.

   Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and  
   any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended  
   use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which  
   they are located. The cost of self-constructed assets also includes the cost of materials and  
   direct labour. For qualifying assets, borrowing costs are capitalised in accordance with the  
   accounting policy on borrowing costs.

   Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised  
   as part of that equipment.

   When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, 
   they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and  
   equipment.

   The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by  
   comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and  
   equipment and are recognised net within “other income” and “other expenses” respectively in  
   profit or loss.

  (ii) Subsequent costs

   The cost of replacing a component of an item or property, plant and equipment is recognised  
   in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied  
   within the component will flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. The  
   carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised to profit or loss. The costs of the  
   day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as  
   incurred.

  (iii) Depreciation

   Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components  
   of individual assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful life that is different from the  
   remainder of that asset, then that component is depreciated separately.

   Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful  
   lives of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment from the date that they  
   are available for use.
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   (b) Amortised cost

    Other financial liabilities not categorised as fair value through profit or loss are  
    subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

    Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the profit or  
    loss. Any gains or losses on derecognition are also recognised in the profit or loss.

  (iii) Derecognition

   A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the contractual rights to  
   the cash flows from the financial asset expire or transferred, or control of the asset is not  
   retained or substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are  
   transferred to another party. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the  
   carrying amount of the financial asset and the sum of consideration received (including any 
   new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

   A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation  
   specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. A financial liability is also  
   derecognised when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are  
   substantially different, in which case, a new financial liability based on modified terms is  
   recognised at fair value.

   On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount of the 
   financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid,  
   including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

  (iv) Offsetting

   Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the  
   statement of financial position when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally 
   enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or 
   to realise the asset and liability simultaneously.
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   Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual value are reviewed at end of the reporting  
   period, and adjusted as appropriate .

 (c) Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and bank balances.

 (d) Impairment

  (i) Financial assets

   The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets  
   measured at amortised cost, debt investments measured at fair value through other  
   comprehensive income, contract assets and lease receivables. Expected credit losses are a  
   probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.

   The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss,  
   except for debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date,  
   cash and bank balance and other debt securities for which credit risk has not increased  
   significantly since initial recognition, which are measured at 12-month expected credit loss.  
   Loss allowances for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables are always  
   measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss.

   When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly  
   since initial recognition and when estimating expected credit loss, the Company considers  
   reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or  
   effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the  
   Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward- 
   looking information, where available.

   Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible  
   default events over the expected life of the asset, while 12-month expected credit losses are  
   the portion of expected credit losses that result from default events that are possible within  
   the 12 months after the reporting date. The maximum period considered when estimating  
   expected credit losses is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is  
   exposed to credit risk.

   The Company estimates the expected credit losses on trade receivables using a provision  
   matrix with reference to historical credit loss experience.

   An impairment loss in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost is recognised in 
   profit or loss and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
   account.

   An impairment loss in respect of debt investments measured at fair value through other  
   comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss and the allowance account is recognised  
   in other comprehensive income.

   At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised  
   cost and debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income are credit  
   impaired. A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental  
   impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

   The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or full) to the  
   extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the  
   Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could  
   generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However,  
   financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to  
   comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery amounts due.

  (ii) Other assets

   The carrying amounts on other assets (except for inventories, contract assets, lease receivables,  
   deferred tax asset, asset arising from employee benefits, investment properties measured at  
   fair value and non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale) are reviewed  
   at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of  
   impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

   For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group  
   of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the 
   cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating units.

   The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use  
   and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are  
   discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market  
   assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating- 
   unit.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020

The estimated useful lives are at the following rates:

Computers 33.33%

Furniture and fittings 20%

Office equipment 20%
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   An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating  
   unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

   Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in  
   respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any  
   goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and then to  
   reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the cash-generating unit (groups of cash- 
   generating units) on a pro rata basis.

   Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting 
   period for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss  
   is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable  
   amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.

   An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does  
   not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or  
   amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. Reversals of impairment losses are 
   credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

 (e) Provisions

  A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive  
  obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits  
  will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected  
  future cash flows at a pre  tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
  money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance  
  cost .

 (f) Revenue

  Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the  
  Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria  
  must also be met before revenue is recognised:

  (i) Subscription fees

   A fixed quantum of subscription fees is recognised as initial subscription fees in the year the 
   subscription is accepted.

   The annual subscription fees received and receivable by the Company is recognised on an  
   accrual basis.

 (g) Project grants

  Project grants are recognised as non-current liability upon receipt from Malaysian Communications  
  and Multimedia Commission for industry promotion and development purposes. All expenditure  
  related to the grant is shown as disbursement of grant.

 (h) Government grants

  Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value when there is reasonable 
  assurance that they will be received and the Company will comply with the conditions associated  
  with the grant and are then recognised in profit or loss as other income on a systematic basis over  
  the useful life of the asset. Grants that compensate the Company for expenses incurred are  
  recognised in profit or loss as other income on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the  
  expenses are recognised.

 (i) Income tax

  Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised  
  in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognised  
  directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

  Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,  
  using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year, and any adjustment  
  to tax payable in respect of previous financial years.

  Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the  
  carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and their tax bases  
  Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of  
  goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business  
  combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is measured  
  at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse,  
  based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting  
  period.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax  
  liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same  
  taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets  
  on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously .
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  A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be  
  available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed  
  at the end of each reporting year and are reduced to the extent that is no longer probable that the  
  related tax benefit will be realised.

  Unutilised reinvestment allowance and investment tax allowance, being tax incentives that is not a  
  tax base of an asset, is recognised as a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is probable that the  
  future taxable profits will be available against which the unutilised tax incentive can be utilised.

 (j) Employee benefits

  (i) Short term employee benefits

   Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual  
   leave and sick leave are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related  
   service is provided.

   A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short  term cash bonus or  
   profit-sharing plans if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this  
   amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be  
   estimated reliably.

  (ii) Contribution plans
 
   The Company’s contributions to statutory pension funds are charged to profit or loss in the  
   financial year to which they relate . Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the  
   extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. As required by law,  
   companies in Malaysia make such contribution to the Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”).

 (k) Fair value measurement

  Fair value of an asset or a liability, except for share-based payment and lease transactions, is  
  determined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an  
  orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The measurement  
  assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal  
  market or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.

  For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s ability  
  to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to  
  another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

  When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data  
  as far as possible.

  Fair value is categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the input used in the  
  valuation technique as follows:

  Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the  
    Company can access at the measurement date.

  Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or  
    liability, either directly or indirectly.

  Level 3: unobservable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

  The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date of the  
  event or change in circumstances that caused the transfers.

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

COST

Balance as at Balance as at

1.1.2020 Additions Disposals 31.12.2020

RM RM RM RM

Computers 122,022 4,526 - 126,548

Furniture and fittings 8,423 - - 8,423

Office equipment 11,831 - - 11,831

142,276 4,526 - 146,802

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance as at Balance as at

1.1.2020 Additions Disposals 31.12.2020

RM RM RM RM

Computers 121,821 1,494 - 123,315

Furniture and fittings 8,422 - - 8,422

Office equipment 10,636 1,194 - 11,830

140,879 2,688 - 143,567
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 The cost of property, plant and equipment which has been fully depreciated but still in use are as follows:

CARRYING VALUE Depreciation

2020 2019 2019

RM RM RM

Computers 3,233 201 30,730

Furniture and fittings 1 1 12

Office equipment 1 1,195 795

3,235 1,397 31,537

2020 2019

RM RM

Computers 46,069 46,069

Furniture and fittings 8,423 8,423

Office equipment 11,831 8,128

66,323 62,620

2020 2019

RM RM

Amount due from members 135,250 144,674

Less: Accumulated impairment losses (86,737) -

48,513 144,674

2020 2019

RM RM

Other receivables - 4,368

Deposits 1,500 1,500

Prepayments 1,446 -

2,946 5,868

2020 2019

RM RM

At 1 January 154,000 152,000

Subscription from members 5,000 2,000

At 31 December 159,000 154,000

2020 2019

Members Members

At 1 January 97 102

Add: New members 5 2

Less: Discontinued memberships (8) (7)

At 31 December 94 97

2020 2019

RM RM

Cash in hand and at bank 3,009,748 2,900,772

 The Company is incorporated as a company limited by guarantee without share capital. In the event of the  
 Company being wound up, each member of the Company undertakes to contribute a maximum of RM100  
 to the assets of the Company.

 The membership fund represents the initial contribution from the members.

 The movement of the members are as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020

6. AMOUNT DUE FROM MEMBERS

7. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

9. MEMBERSHIP FUND
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2020 2019

RM RM

Malaysian Communications and Multimedia

Commission (MCMC)

- Green ICT (GICT) 643,948 685,929

- Internet of Things (IOT) 881,429 980,823

1,525,377 1,666,752

2020 2019

RM RM

At 1 January 1,666,752 2,008,769

Disbursed during the year (141,375) (342,017)

At 31 December 1,525,377 1,666,752

2020 2019

RM RM

Other payables 534,415 332,295

Amount due to members 3,553 26,187

537,968 358,482

2020 2019

RM RM

Recognition of government grants 1,422,225 1,616,668

Others - 1,000

1,422,225 1,617,668

2020 2019

RM RM

Current tax expense - 240

Under provision of taxation in prior years - 411

- 651

2020 2019

RM RM

Auditors’ remuneration 10,000 10,000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,688 31,537

Directors’ remuneration 22,000 -
Impairment losses on amount due from members 86,737 -
Rental:

- equipment 4,560 4,560

- space 5,368 39,080

2020 2019

RM RM

Subscription fees 383,127 363,096

 The movement of the project grants are as follows :

 Operating (deficit)/ surplus before taxation is arrived at after charging the following items:

14. OPERATING (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION

15. TAXATION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020

10. PROJECT GRANTS 13. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

11. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

12. REVENUE
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2020 2019

RM RM

Operating (deficit)/surplus before taxation (22,880) 241,176

Tax at the current income tax rate of 24% (5,491) 57,882

Tax effect in respect of:

 Non-allowable expenses 438,775 417,501

 Disregarded income (91,950) (87,143)

 Non-taxable income (341,334) (388,000)

 Under provision of taxation in prior years - 411

Tax expense - 651

Carrying
amount AC

RM RM

2020

Financial assets

Amount due from members 48,513 48,513

Other receivables, deposit and prepayments 2,946 2,946

Cash and cash equivalents 3,009,748 3,009,748

3,061,207 3,061,207

Financial liability

Other payables and accruals (537,968) (537,968)

2019

Financial assets

Amount due from members

Other receivables, deposit and prepayments 144,674 144,674

Cash and cash equivalents 5,868 5,868

2,900,772 2,900,772

3,051,314 3,051,314

Financial liability

Other payables and accruals (358,482) (358,482)

 Reconciliation of tax expense with operating (deficit)/surplus before taxation:

 The numbers of employees in the Company at the end of the financial year were 11 (2019:11).

2020 2019

RM RM

Salaries, bonus and allowances 925,460 930,619

EPF contribution 99,048 113,706

SOCSO contribution 8,202 8,643

Other employee benefits 34,320 51,582

1,067,030 1,104,550

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020

16. STAFF COSTS

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 (a) Categories of financial instruments

  The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as amortised cost (“AC”).

 (b) Financial risk management

  The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

  • Credit risk
  • Liquidity risk

 (c) Credit risk

  Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss if a member or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to  
  meet its contractual obligations. The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from its  
  receivables from members and cash and cash equivalents. There are no significant changes as  
  compared to the prior periods.

  (i) Amount due from members

   Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

   Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an  
   ongoing basis. Normally credit evaluations are performed on members requiring credit over  
   a certain amount.
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   At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether any of the amount due from members  
   are credit impaired.

   The gross carrying amounts of credit impaired amount due from members are written off  
   (either partially or full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case  
   when the Company determines that the member does not have assets or sources of income  
   that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write  off.  
   Nevertheless, amount due from members that are written off could still be subject to 
   enforcement activities .

   There are no significant changes as compared to previous year.

   Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral

   As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from  
   amount due from members is represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of  
   financial position.

   Recognition and measurement of impairment loss

   In managing credit risk of amount due from members, the Company manages its receivables  
   and takes appropriate actions (including but not limited to legal actions) to recover long  
   overdue balances . Generally, members will pay within 60 days.

   The Company’s debt recovery process is as follows:

   (a) Above 120 days past due after credit term, the Company will start to initiate a structured  
    debt recovery process which is monitored by the management; and

   (b) If no repayment received from the structured debt recovery process, the Company will  
    commence a legal proceeding against the member.

   The Company uses an allowance matrix to measure ECLs of amount due from members.  
   Consistent with the debt recovery process, invoices which are past due 120 days will be  
   considered as credit impaired.

   Loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable  
   progressing through successive stages of delinquency to 120 days past due.

   Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the past three years. The Company  
   also considers differences between

   (a) economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been  
    collected;

   (b) current conditions; and

   (c) the Company’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the  
    receivables.

   Nevertheless, the Company believes that these factors are immaterial for the purpose of  
   impairment calculation for the year.

   The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for  
   amount due from members.

Gross-
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance Net balance

RM RM RM

2020

Current (not past due) - - -

1-30 days past due - - -

31-60 days past due - - -

61-90 days past due - - -

91-120 days past due - - -

- - -

Credit impaired - - -

More than 120 days 135,250 86,737 48,513

135,250 86,737 48,513

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020

Gross-
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance Net balance

RM RM RM

2019

Current (not past due) - - -

1-30 days past due - - -

31-60 days past due - - -

61-90 days past due - - -

91-120 days past due - - -

- - -

Credit impaired - - -

More than 120 days 144,674 - 144,674

144,674 - 144,674
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2020

   Amount due from members that were past due but not impaired relate to members that  
   have a good payment record with the Company. Based on past experience and no adverse  
   information to date, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for  
   impairment is necessary in respect of those balances as there has not been a significant  
   change in the credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

   The movements in the allowance for impairment losses of trade receivables during the  
   year are shown below.

Credit
impaired

Total

RM RM

Balance at 1 January 2020 - -

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 86,737 86,737

Balance at 31 December 2020 86,737 86,737

  (ii) Cash and cash equivalents

   The cash and cash equivalents are held with banks and financial institutions. As at the end  
   of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying  
   amounts in the statement of financial position.

   These banks and financial institutions have low credit risks. In addition, some of the bank  
   balances are insured by government agencies. Consequently, the Company is of the view  
   that the loss allowance is not material and hence, it is not provided for.

  (iii) Other receivables
 
   Credit risks on other receivables are mainly arising from advances and deposits paid. As at  
   the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their  
   carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

 (d) Liquidity risk

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they  
  fall due. The Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises principally from its various payables.

  The Company maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management 
  to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall  
  due.

  It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis occur significantly earlier, or  
  at significantly different amounts.

 (e) Fair value of financial instruments

  The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short term receivables and payables approximate  
  their fair values due to the relatively short-term nature of these financial instruments.

  Maturity analysis

  The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at the end  
  of the reporting period based on undiscounted contractual payments:

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
interest rate

Contractual 
cash flows

Under 1 year

RM RM RM RM

2020

Non-derivative financial liability

Other payables and accruals 537,968 - 537,968 537,968

2019

Non-derivative financial liability

Other payables and accruals 358,482 - 358,482 358,482

18. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

 The Company considers its non-distributable fund as its capital. As at 31 December 2020 the Company is  
 not exposed to any capital risk as there are no outstanding borrowings made with financial institutions.

19. SIGNIFICANT EVENT DURING THE YEAR 

 The World Health Organisation declared the Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) a global pandemic on 11  
 March 2020. The Government of Malaysia imposed the Movement Control Order (“MCO”) on 18 March  
 2020 to 12 May 2020 and had subsequently entered into the conditional and recovery phases of the MCO  
 until 20 December 2020 in all states and federal territories in Malaysia.

 During the implementation of the MCO, the Company’s operation was temporarily interrupted due to the  
 public movement restrictions. The extent to which COVID-19 impacts the result of the Company will  
 depend on the future development on COVID-19, which are highly uncertain and unpredictable. In this  
 respect, the management will continue to manage and assess the impact to the Company of the ongoing  
 COVID-19.
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Registered Address:
12th Floor, Menara Symphony,
No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim,
Seksyen 13,
46200 Petaling Jaya,
Selangor, Malaysia.

Date: 4 June 2021

TIA HWEI PING
Company Secretary

[SSM PRACTICING CERTIFICATE NO. 202008001687
(MAICSA 7057636)]

AGENDA

1) To receive the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2020  
 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

2) To appoint the Chairman of the Company based on the following list of names of duly nominated  
 candidates from amongst the Board of Directors of the Company:-
 (i) Norazizan Bin Mohamad
 (ii) Azni Risa Binti Ramlan

3) To re-appoint Messrs. Khairuddin Hasyudeen & Razi as Auditors of the Company for the ensuing year and to  
 authorise the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

4) To transact any other business.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Seventeenth Annual General Meeting (“17th AGM”) of MALAYSIAN 
TECHNICAL STANDARDS FORUM BHD (“MTSFB” or “the Company”) will be held on a fully virtual basis via online 
platform Zoom and deemed held at No. 43, Jalan BM6/7D, Bandar Bukit Mahkota, 43000 Bangi, Selangor Darul 
Ehsan on Thursday, 24 June 2021 at 10.30 a.m. for the following purposes :-

Notes: 

1. Following the Full Movement Control Order announced by the Government of Malaysia effective 1 June 2021 to contain  
 the spread of the COVID-19 outbreak in Malaysia, the Board of Directors of the Company has decided to conduct the 17th  
 AGM on a fully virtual basis.

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at the general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of  
 him. However, a corporate member must appoint an Authorised Representative.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer, and if the appointer is a corporate  
 member, the instrument appointing the Authorised Representative must be in writing addressed to the Secretary and  
 must contain the name, address, status and specimen signature of the Authorised Representative.

4. The instrument appointing a Proxy/Authorised Representative must be deposited at the registered office of the Company  
 not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the time set for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting.

NOTICE OF THE  
17th ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING 
INFORMATION

05
Chapter

90 NOTICE OF THE 16TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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